
1 

BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 
Agenda 

November 2, 2015 
Executive Session – 6:30 P.M. 
Regular Meeting - 7:00 P.M. 

Council Chambers 
Town Hall 

85 Union Street 
Roll Call of Members 

Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 

Executive Session: Disposition of real property [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C)]  

Pledge of Allegiance 

Adjustments to Agenda 

CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the Minutes of October 19, 2015

Public Comments 

Correspondence 

Committee Reports 

MANAGER’S REPORT: 
a) Report from School Department regarding the school project
b) Election reminder

PUBLIC HEARING 

108. The Town Council will hear public comments on amendments to the General Assistance 
Maximums, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager)   

HEARING/ACTION 

NEW BUSINESS 

109. The Town Council will consider adopting a “Resolution Amending the 2015-16 Budget to 
Appropriate $136,481 for the Purpose of Funding the Vehicle and Equipment Reserve 
Funds,” and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) 

ACTION 



2 
 

 
110. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for November 16, 2015, 

regarding amendments to the Harbor Ordinance concerning setting mooring fees in the 
amount of $50 for residents, commercial, and public field moorings, and $100 for non-
resident moorings, and will take any appropriate action. (Councilor Walker and Councilor 
S. Wilson) 

ACTION 
 
111. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for November 16, 2015, 

regarding amendments to the Code of Ordinances that would establish a Master Schedule 
of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) 

ACTION 
 
112. The Town Council will consider appointments to the Town’s Boards and Committees, and 

will take any appropriate action. (Appointments Committee) 
ACTION 

 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 

COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  
  



3 
 

 
Brunswick Town Council 

Agenda  
November 2, 2015 

Council Notes and Suggested Motions 
 
Executive Session: Disposition of real property [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C)]  
 

Suggested Motion:  
Motion to go into executive session per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C) to discuss the disposition 
of real property. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the Minutes of October 19, 2015:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 

packet. 
 

Suggested motion:  
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 
COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Councilors with information on the Committees they are involved with will share information 
with the Council and public. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
a) Report from School Department regarding the school project:  Paul Perzanoski will provide 

the Council and public with a brief update on the status of the proposed project. 
b) Election reminder: This is a reminder that voting for municipal offices, the Sewer District 

question, and the state general election will take place on Tuesday, November 3rd at 
Brunswick Junior High School, 65 Columbia Avenue.  The polling hours are 7:00 a.m. to 
8:00 p.m. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
108. This item is the required public hearing to change the current General Assistance 

maximums, as required by state law.  This is the annual adoption of the limits, with 
changes to GA overall and housing maximums.  Copies of a memo and current and 
proposed Overall Maximum levels are included in your packet. 

 
Option for the Council if they choose to vote this evening - suggested motion:  
Motion to suspend the Council Rules to allow the Council to vote on this item at this 
meeting. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to adopt amendments to the General Assistance Maximums as included in the 
agenda packet and attached to the official minutes. 

 
 



4 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
109. This item is for the Council to consider adopting this budget amendment, a “Resolution 

Amending the 2015-16 Budget to Appropriate $136,481 for the Purpose of Funding the 
Vehicle and Equipment Reserve Funds.” The funding is provided through a refund from 
Maine PERS.  The charter requirements regarding budget amendments have been 
satisfied, so it is appropriate to adopt the resolution at this time.  Copies of memos from 
Manager Eldridge and the draft resolution are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to adopt a “Resolution Amending the 2015-16 Budget to Appropriate $136,481 
for the Purpose of Funding the Vehicle and Equipment Reserve Funds.” 

 
110. This item, sponsored by Councilor S. Wilson and Councilor Walker, is for the Council to 

consider setting a public hearing for November 16, 2015, on amendments to the Harbor 
Ordinance regarding setting mooring fees in the amount of $50 for residents, commercial 
and public fields, and $100 for non-residents.  At your October 5th meeting, the Rivers and 
Coastal Waters Commission recommended mooring fees in the amount of $25 for 
resident, private, commercial, or rental moorings, and $50 for nonresidents.  A resident 
mooring owner is defined as someone who lives in Brunswick more than six months a 
year, pays Brunswick real estate property taxes, or is a registered voter in Brunswick.  In 
addition, there is a provision for someone who installs a helix mooring in an eel grass 
habitat to pay no fees for this mooring for five years.  Several Councilors suggested 
increasing the fees, and Manager Eldridge met with Mr. Worthing, RCWC chair, and 
Officer Devereaux.  A new proposed schedule has been created that increases the fee for 
those mooring belonging to residents, whether located near their property or in either a 
commercial or public mooring field, to $50 per year.  Nonresident moorings increased to 
$100 annually, with the helix mooring provision remaining as originally proposed.  
Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge,  surveys of other municipalities, and the 
proposed language are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to set a public hearing for November 16, 2015, regarding amendments to the 
Harbor Ordinance concerning setting mooring fees in the amount of $50 for residents, 
commercial, and public field moorings, and $100 for non-resident moorings. 

 
111. This item is for the Council to consider setting a public hearing for November 16, 2015, 

for amendments to the Code of Ordinances to establish of a Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees, and Fines.  For some time, staff has been working on amending the 
Municipal Code of Ordinances to remove these references from the body of each Code 
section they are mentioned in.  Instead, those sections would reference a table that would 
be an appendix to the Municipal Code. Creating such a table would facilitate a more 
timely review of those revenues.  Copies of a memo from Manager Eldridge, along with 
the proposed schedule and affected sections of ordinances, are included in your packet. 

  



5 
 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to set a public hearing for November 16, 2015, regarding amendments to the Code 
of Ordinances that would establish a Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines. 

 
112. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees.  Copies of the Appointment Committee’s report and 
applications are included in your packet. 

 
Suggested motion: 
Nominations will be made, with no seconds required, and the Council will then vote on 
the nominations. 

 
Suggested motion:  
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

 
 



CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
October 19, 2015 

7:00 P.M. – Regular Meeting  
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. Perreault, 

Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, and Katherine E. 
Wilson. 

 
Councilors Absent: John Richardson, Jr. 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk; Steve 

Langsdorf, Town Attorney; Tom Farrell, Director of Parks and 
Recreation; Julie Henze, Finance Director; Anna Breinich, Director of 
Planning and Development; Jeff Emerson, Deputy Fire Chief; Terry 
Goan, Patrol Officer; and TV video crew 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked the Clerk for roll call, acknowledged that the 
meeting was properly noticed, and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
To move Item #105 before the public hearing. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of October 5, 2015 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to approve the Consent Agenda.  
The motion carried with eight (8) yeas. 
 
Public Comments (This item was discussed at 7:01 p.m.) 
 
Deb King spoke regarding the upcoming BDA Silent Auction. 
 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, spoke regarding the high school boiler and his concerns with 
how this issue has been handled, as well as options other than replacing the boiler. 
 
Correspondence (This item was discussed at 7:12 p.m.) 
 
Chair Brayman spoke about a rock on Mars that has been named after Joshua Chamberlain. 
 
Councilor Perreault gave an update on the success of the Brunswick High School football team. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson spoke regarding a citizen’s concern about a dog in a parked car and that 
person’s dissatisfaction with the police department’s response.  Councilor Wilson hopes such 
issues can be managed better in the future.   
 



Town Council Minutes 
October 19, 2015 
Page 2 
 

 
 

 
COMMITTEE REPORTS  (This item was discussed at 7:18 p.m.) 
 
Councilor Harris gave a report on the County Finance Committee.  He responded to questions 
from Councilor Walker. 
 
a) Report from the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee (This item was discussed 

at 7:21 p.m.) 
 
William Wilkoff, Chair of Committee, made this presentation. 
 
b )Report from MPIC regarding their support of a Multi Family Building inspection 

program  (This item was discussed at 7:39 p.m.) 
 
Margo Knight, MPIC Chair, spoke regarding this item.  She responded to questions from Chair 
Brayman, Councilor Perreault, Councilor Watson, and Councilor Walker. 
 
Councilor Millett and Councilor K. Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
(A copy of a memo from the Committee will be attached to the official minutes.)  
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Financial update (This item was discussed at 7:57 p.m.)  
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
b) Recognition of Tom Farrell for being selected for a 2015 “Helping Hand” award from 

Access Health  (This item was discussed at 7:58.) 
 
Manager Eldridge recognized Mr. Farrell for this award. 
 
c) Notice of MDOT public meeting on proposed replacement of the New Meadows Bridge 

(This item was discussed at 8:01 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
d) Announcement of Captain Fitzgerald Recreation and Conservation Area prescribed 

burn  (This item was discussed at 8:02 p.m.) 
 
Tom Farrell, Director of Parks and Recreation, spoke regarding this item. 
 
e) Election and absentee ballot reminder  (This item was discussed at 8:04 p.m.) 
 
Ms. Smith, Town Clerk, spoke regarding this item. 



Town Council Minutes 
October 19, 2015 
Page 3 
 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
105. The Town Council will hear public comments on a “Resolution Amending the 2015-

16 Budget to Appropriate $136,481 for the Purpose of Funding the Vehicle and 
Equipment Reserve Funds,” and may take action at least 10 days after the hearing.  
(Manager)  (This item was discussed at 9:18 p.m.) 

 
Councilor S. Wilson left the meeting at this time. 
 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item and responded to questions from Councilor Perreault and 
Councilor Watson. 
 
Julie Henze also responded to Councilor Watson’s questions. 
 
Richard Fisco, 2 Lincoln Street, spoke regarding this item. 
 
Chair Brayman closed the public hearing. 
 
No action can be taken on this item until at least ten days after the public hearing, as required by 
the Town Charter. 
 
(A copy of Manager Eldridge’s memo will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
TABLED ITEM 
 
100. The Town Council will discuss the draft “Social Services Funding Policy,” and 

determine if any future action is required.  (Councilor Perreault, Councilor Harris, 
and Councilor K. Wilson)  (This item was discussed at 9:31 p.m.) 

 
Councilor Perreault and Councilor K. Wilson introduced this item. 
 
Councilor Millett asked questions, to which Councilor Harris, Councilor Perreault, and Manager 
Eldridge responded. 
 
Chair Brayman, Councilor Walker, Councilor Millett, and Councilor K. Wilson spoke on this 
item. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
106. The Town Council will hear a report regarding a single use bag fee and a ban on 

Styrofoam containers, and will determine if any future action is required. 
(Councilor K. Wilson and Councilor Walker)  (This item was discussed at 8:06 p.m.) 

 
Done prior to item 105. 



Town Council Minutes 
October 19, 2015 
Page 4 
 

 
 

 
Councilor Walker and Alex Anesko, Chair of Recycling and Sustainability Committee, 
introduced this item. Mr. Anesko read a statement from a resident, Jamie Ecker, on the harm 
caused by the plastic bags. 
 
Marsha Harrington, Bring Your Own Bag group, spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Walker, Councilor Millett, and Councilor Perreault asked questions, to which Ms. 
Harrington responded. 
 
Councilor Watson and Councilor Walker each asked a question, to which Mr. Anesko 
responded. 
 
Heather Archer, Topsham resident, spoke against this item. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson, Councilor Harris, Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor Millett, and Chair 
Brayman spoke regarding this item. 
 
(A copy of a report from the Committee will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
107. The Town Council will consider setting a public hearing for November 2, 2015, on 

amendments to the General Assistance Maximums, and will take any appropriate 
action. (Manager)  (This item was discussed at 9:56 p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to set a public hearing for 
November 2, 2015, on amendments to the General Assistance Maximums.  The motion 
carried with seven (7) yeas. 

 
Councilor Watson moved, Councilor Walker seconded, to adjourn the meeting.  The 
motion carried with seven (7) yeas. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:57 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
October 24, 2015 
 

November 2, 2015 
Date of Approval 



Town Council Minutes 
October 19, 2015 
Page 5 
 

 
 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 

 



ITEMS MR A and MR B 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
ITEM 108 
BACK UP MATERIALS 









 
 

 
ITEM 109 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



O:\Council\Memos	to	Council\2015\Memo	Budget	Amendment	100115.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 October	1,	2015	
	
SUBJECT:	 Proposed	Budget	Amendment		
	 Vehicle	and	Equipment	Replacement	Reserves	
	
	
Attached	is	a	proposed	resolution	that	would	amend	the	adopted	2015‐16	budget	to	add	funding	to	
the	Town’s	Vehicle	and	Equipment	Replacement	Reserves.	
	
As	you	may	recall,	the	Maine	Public	Employees	Retirement	System	(MainePERS),	recently	returned	
approximately	$136,481	to	the	Town	of	Brunswick.		This	refund	represented	the	remaining	surplus	
the	Town	carried	into	the	consolidated	participating	local	district	(PLD)	plan	when	the	Town	
elected	a	PLD	plan	in	1993.		Prior	to	joining	the	PLD	plan,	municipalities,	including	Brunswick,	were	
treated	as	separate	stand‐alone	plans	for	funding	and	benefits.		In	electing	to	join	the	PLD	plan,	
municipalities	brought	into	that	plan	any	liability	or	surplus	they	had	in	their	stand‐alone	plans.		
Brunswick	had	a	surplus,	however,	it	was	the	position	of	MainePERS	that	it	could	not	return	that	
surplus.		Instead,	it	allowed	Brunswick	to	use	a	portion	of	that	surplus	annually	to	reduce	the	
required	employer	contribution.		MainePERS	recently	changed	its	position	and	refunded	the	
remaining	balance	of	the	surplus.	
	
Brunswick	could	elect	to	continue	to	use	a	portion	of	the	refund	to	offset	employer	costs.		However,	
I	have	recommended,	and	the	Finance	Committee	has	agreed,	to	allocate	these	funds	to	the	vehicle	
reserve	accounts.		In	funding	the	reserves,	we	would	have	funds	available	to	replace	equipment	that	
the	adopted	CIP	recommends,	or	that	we	assumed	would	be	funded	with	bonding.		For	instance,	the	
CIP	recommends	funding	a	sidewalk	tractor	for	the	Parks	and	Recreation	Department	with	bonds.		
Without	sufficient	funding,	we	anticipate	that	we	would	also	need	to	fund	a	replacement	ambulance	
with	a	bond.		
	
If	the	Council	agrees	to	appropriate	the	MainePERS	refund	for	the	vehicle	replacement	accounts,	it	
would	need	to	adopt	the	attached	budget	amendment.		The	process	for	amending	the	budget	is	
similar	to	the	one	used	to	adopt	the	budget.		It	requires	setting	and	holding	a	public	hearing,	and	a	
vote	on	the	amendment	ten	or	more	days	following	the	public	hearing.	



 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 
 

Resolution Amending the 2015-16 Budget to Appropriate $136,481 for the Purpose of Funding the 
Vehicle and Equipment Reserve Funds 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) adopted a budget for the 2015-16 fiscal year (the 
“Budget”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) adopted a Capital Improvement Plan for the 2016-
2021 fiscal years (the “CIP”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the CIP includes Vehicle & Equipment Reserve funding as well as certain individual 
vehicle and equipment items to be funded individually; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the CIP policy, replacement vehicles with a life expectancy of 
less than 15 years and a cost less than $325,000 should be funded through the Vehicle & Equipment 
Reserve Funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, due to insufficient balances in the Vehicle & Equipment Reserve Funds, the CIP includes 
certain vehicle and equipment items with a cost less than $325,000 to be funded through the issuance of 
bonds; and 
 
WHEREAS, in August, 2015 the Town received $136,481 from MainePERS in payment of the Town’s 
Individual Unpooled Unfunded Actuarial Asset (IUUAA) balance as of June 30, 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Manager has determined that a suitable use for the $136,481 IUUAA funds is to 
be appropriated for the Vehicle and Equipment Reserve Funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, section 504 of the Charter of the Town of Brunswick provides a method for amending the 
Budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has held a public hearing on the proposed amendments to the Budget  at 
least ten days prior to the adoption of this resolution; 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION IS ADOPTED: 
 
The 2015-16 Budget is amended to appropriate a sum of one hundred and thirty-six thousand, four 
hundred and eighty-one dollars ($136,481) for the Vehicle and Equipment Reserve Funds.  

 
 
 
 
Proposed to Town Council: October 5, 2015 
Public Hearing:     
Adopted by Town Council:  
 



 
 

 
ITEM 110 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

O:\Council\Memos	to	Council\2015\Memo	mooring	Fees	102915.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 October	29,	2015	
	
SUBJECT:	 Mooring	Fees	
	
	
At	your	October	5th	meeting	Mark	Worthing,	Chair	of	the	Rivers	and	Coastal	Waters	Commission	
(RCWC),	presented	the	Commission’s	recommended	schedule	of	mooring	fees	and	suggested	that	
the	Council	adopt	a	fee	schedule	ahead	of	the	2016	registration	season.		After	some	discussion,	I	
offered	to	review	the	recommendation		and	to	provide	the	Council	with	additional	suggestions.	
	
To	better	understand	the	Commission’s	recommendation,	I	met	with	Mark	Worthing	and	Dan	
Devereaux.		It	is	my	understanding	that	the	Commission	recognized	that	its	recommended	fees	
were	relatively	low,	intentionally	so,	at	least	in	this	first	year	that	fees	would	be	charged.		Further,	
while	the	Commission	agreed	that	a	portion	of	the	costs	should	be	recovered	through	fees,	it	did	not	
intend	for	fees	to	recover	all	costs	attributed	to	the	Harbor	Master’s	activities.		Finally,	several	
principles	were	very	important	to	the	Commission	including:	
	

 Simplicity	of	the	fee	schedule	
 Incentive	for	Helix	moorings	
 Penalty	for	late	registrations	

	

Attached	is	a	copy	of	the	2014	mooring	fee	survey	compiled	by	the	Maine	Harbor	Masters’	
Association	(MHMA)	as	well	as	a	survey	compiled	by	the	Town	in	2010.		The	Commission	used	
these	surveys	in	developing	its	recommended	schedule.		Also	attached	is	a	budget	worksheet	
itemizing	the	estimated	annual	costs	associated	with	the	Brunswick	Harbor	Master’s	functions.		The	
worksheet	illustrates	the	calculated	fee	required	at	different	percentages	of	cost	recovery.		I	should	
emphasize	that	these	are	estimates;	the	Town	does	not	track	these	costs	separately.	
	
Based	on	the	Commission’s	work	and	the	Council’s	feedback,	I	recommend	that	the	Council	
consider	the	following	fee	schedule:	
	

Resident	mooring	 	 $50	
Non‐resident	mooring	 	 $100	
Mooring	in	a	commercial	field	 	 $50	
Mooring	in	a	public	mooring	field	 	 $50	
Helix	mooring	(replacement	of	regular)	 Free	for	5	years	
Late	registration	(after	deadline)	 	 Double	Fee	

	

The	recommended	schedule	is	consistent	with	the	goals	of	the	Commission	and	with	its	discussions	
on	fee	levels.		It	recovers	25%	of	the	costs	attributable	to	the	Harbor	Master’s	activities.			
	
Finally,	attached	is	a	redline	version	of	the	ordinance	amendments	to	implement	the	recommended	
fee	schedule.	

1



 
 

 

T
ow

n
O

ve
rn

ig
ht

 D
oc

ka
ge

P
ow

er
T

ra
sh

W
at

er
P

um
po

ut
S

ho
w

er
s

D
ay

 S
ai

lo
rs

R
en

ta
l M

oo
ri

ng
B

ar
 H

ar
bo

r
$1

.5
0/

ft
 r

es
, $

3/
ft

 n
on

$1
0/

$2
5/

$4
6

$3
/b

ag
$3

8.
ni

gh
t

$3
5

B
el

fa
st

<
40

'=
$2

, <
60

'=
$2

.5
, >

60
'=

$3
$2

/$
5/

$1
0

$2
.5

0 
($

3
n/

c
$5

$2
$1

00
 to

uc
h 

&
 g

o,
 $

45
/f

t o
ve

r
$3

0

B
ri

st
ol

B
ro

ok
sv

il
le

B
us

ti
ns

 I
sl

an
d

C
am

de
n

<
40

'=
$2

, <
70

'=
$3

, >
70

'=
$4

.5
0

$1
0/

$2
0

$1
,7

50

C
ap

e 
E

li
za

be
th

C
as

ti
ne

$2
/f

t
Y

es
Y

es
Y

es
2 

hr
, n

/c
$3

5 
(2

)

F
al

m
ou

th
n/

c

F
re

ep
or

t

H
ar

ps
w

el
l

$1
00

 (
?)

K
it

te
ry

$2
0

L
in

co
ln

vi
ll

e
$2

20
 r

es
/$

13
20

 n
on

-r
es

L
on

g 
Is

la
nd

2 
hr

s 
fr

ee
, $

25
 f

in
e

N
ew

ca
st

le

R
oc

kl
an

d
$2

/$
2.

50
 >

 5
0'

$3
/$

30
 p

e
n/

c
$2

$4
5 

pe
r 

fo
ot

$3
0

S
ea

rs
po

rt
$2

0
D

on
at

io
n

n/
c

n/
c

n/
c

$2
0 

(2
)

S
ed

gw
ic

k

S
or

re
nt

o
Y

es
2 

n/
c

S
ou

th
po

rt

S
ou

th
w

es
t H

ar
bo

r
$2

5

S
t G

eo
rg

e
n/

c

S
to

ck
to

n 
S

pr
in

gs
$1

.0
0/

ft
$2

5 
$7

00
/s

ea
so

n

W
in

te
r 

H
ar

bo
r

W
is

ca
ss

et
$1

.0
0/

ft
n/

c
$.

50
/f

t/
ni

gh
t

Y
or

k
n/

c
$3

0 
(7

)

O
:\

O
rd

in
an

ce
s\

H
ar

bo
r 

O
rd

in
an

ce
\H

ar
bo

r 
F

ee
 C

om
pa

ri
so

n 
20

14
.x

ls
x

2



 
 

 

T
ow

n
R

es
id

en
ts

N
on

-R
es

id
en

ts
C

om
m

er
ci

al
R

en
ta

l P
er

m
it

L
at

e 
F

ee
W

ai
ti

ng
 L

is
t

D
in

gh
ie

s
B

ar
 H

ar
bo

r
$4

5/
$3

5
$9

0
$2

0
$1

0
$3

5/
$7

0

B
el

fa
st

$6
0

$6
0

$6
0

$1
20

$2
5

$1
0

n/
c 

re
s/

$1
75

 d
oc

k

B
ri

st
ol

$1
2.

50
$1

2.
50

$1
2.

50
$2

5
n/

c

B
ro

ok
sv

il
le

$3
5/

$2
0/

$1
5

$1
75

/$
10

0/
$7

5
S

am
e

N
on

e
$1

00
$3

0/
$2

50

B
us

ti
ns

 I
sl

an
d

C
am

de
n

$1
25

<
20

', 
$1

60
 +

 $
1/

ft
 >

3
$3

20
 +

 $
1/

ft
 >

 3
0'

$1
55

, >
40

' =
$2

20
$4

0
$1

5
$1

10
/$

22
0

C
ap

e 
E

li
za

be
th

$5
0 

(o
w

ns
 p

ro
pe

rt
y)

$2
00

C
as

ti
ne

$7
5

$3
50

S
am

e
N

on
e

$5
0

$1
00

/$
20

0

F
al

m
ou

th
$5

7
$2

57
$5

7
$1

00
$1

0
$6

0/
$1

00

F
re

ep
or

t

H
ar

ps
w

el
l

$2
5

$1
25

$2
5

$1
00

D
ou

bl
e

n/
c

$2
5

K
it

te
ry

$6
/f

t m
in

 $
15

0
$6

/f
t m

in
 $

15
0

$1
0

$2
5

L
in

co
ln

vi
ll

e
$5

5
$1

37
.5

0
$2

7.
50

 r
es

, $
13

7.
50

 n
on

$5
5 

re
s,

 $
27

5 
no

n
$1

1

L
on

g 
Is

la
nd

$3
0

$6
0

N
ew

ca
st

le
$2

0
$3

0

R
oc

kl
an

d
$6

0 
+

 $
1.

75
/f

t >
 3

0'
$8

0 
+

 $
1.

75
/f

t >
 3

0'
$1

20
 +

 $
1.

75
/f

t >
 3

0'
$5

0/
$1

75

S
ea

rs
po

rt
$6

5
$1

30
$6

5 
re

s,
 $

13
0 

no
n

$6
5 

re
s,

 $
13

0 
no

n
1/

2
N

o
$5

0

S
ed

gw
ic

k
$3

2
$1

52
$3

0/
$1

50

S
or

re
nt

o
$6

0
$2

00
 (

15
 s

po
ts

)
$6

0 
re

s,
 $

10
0 

no
n

$2
5/

w
k,

 $
20

0 
m

ax
Y

es
Y

es
/$

55

S
ou

th
po

rt
$1

0
$1

0
$1

00
$1

00
$2

0
$2

0 
(1

 ti
m

e)
n/

c 
 

S
ou

th
w

es
t H

ar
bo

r
$7

0
$1

40
$3

00
 r

es
, $

60
0 

no
n

$1
00

 r
es

, $
20

0 
no

n
$1

0/
$2

0

S
t G

eo
rg

e
$2

0
$1

00
$1

5 
re

s,
 $

75
 n

on
$7

5
D

ou
bl

e
n/

c

S
to

ck
to

n 
S

pr
in

gs
$6

5
$1

35
$6

5 
re

s,
 $

13
5 

no
n

$1
0

$5
0

W
in

te
r 

H
ar

bo
r

W
is

ca
ss

et
$5

0
$1

50
$1

50
 (

in
cl

 d
oc

k 
&

 c
ra

ne
)

n/
c

Y
or

k
$8

6 
+

 $
2/

ft
 >

 2
5'

$2
5

 
n/

c

O
:\

O
rd

in
an

ce
s\

H
ar

bo
r 

O
rd

in
an

ce
\H

ar
bo

r 
F

ee
 C

om
pa

ri
so

n 
20

14
.x

ls
x

3



Harbor Fee Survey Sept. 2010 
 
 

 
BOOTHBAY 
 
Hi Katherine, The Town of Boothbay charges $20 for residents and also non-resident who own property. 
$50 for non-residents. $50 for guest, service and rental moorings.Fees not paid by the 15th of August are 
considered deliquent and are doubled. No applications will be processed until all related fees, excise 
taxes, charges, or penalties have been paid in full.   
Hope this helps.  Tommie 
 
ST. GEORGE 
 
Kath, we went to this fee schedule this past year. Still cheap, even though we doubled the fees. Boy, 
didn’t they squawk. 
  
            Resident Recreational - $20/yr 
            Resident Commercial - $15/yr 
            Non-Res Rec - $100/yr 
            Non-Res Comm - $75 
            Rental - $75/yr 
            Service - $20/yr  
Good Luck, DPS  
 
 
BROOKSVILLE 
 
Brooksville has a three-tier mooring fee structure, because of the different degrees of regulation for 
different waters: 
 
    Buck's Harbor         $30 residents; $150 non-residents 
    Smith Cove            $15 residents; $75 non-residents   
    Other waters          $10 residents; $50 non-residents 
    Shoreland primary and outhauls      $0 
 
       These fees have been in effect since 2008.  I see no need to increase them for 2011. 
 
    Dinghy tie-up fees at Town Landings, which have half to high tide access only:  $25 residents; $250 
non-residents. 
    No charge for use of boat launch ramps. 
 
 
SOUTHPORT 

Southport has a $10 mooring fee, whether resident or non-resident.  We do have a $100 fee for either 
guest or rental moorings.  There is currently no charge for dinghy tie-up at the town float, but I expect 
that to come under review this year. 

 

John S. Lunt 

 

4



 
FREEPORT 
 
my mooring and usage fees have not changed, but here they are... 
Coastal Waters Fees 
Moorings: 
Residents $90.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Resident Subsequent $230.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Resident Fishermen $105.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Resident Commercial 
  Marine Enterprise $385.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Non Resident $385.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Non Resident Fishermen $385.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Non Resident Commercial 
   Marine Enterprise $385.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Marinas $180.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Yacht Club $90.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Commercial Charter $155.00 plus $2.25 LOA 
Waiting List Fee $6.00 
Late fees for mooring applications $55.00 
Dinghy Tie Up Fee $50.00 
Slips $22.00 
Wharfing Out Permits  $100 
Hoist Fee $10.00 
Dock Usage Fee $110 
Winter Tie Up Fee $150.00/month 
Aquaculture monitor transfer $75.00/hour 
 
 
LINCOLNVILLE 
2010 HARBOR FEE SCHEDULE 
 
Mooring Fees: 
Resident Commercial Mooring            $25.00 
Resident Non-Commercial Mooring              $50.00 
Non-Resident Mooring                        $125.00 
Resident Multi-Use/Guest/ Service/Rental Mooring                          $50.00 
Non-Resident Multi-Use/Guest/Service/Rental Mooring               $250.00 
 
Mooring, Floats, and Incline Fees (Non-Public): 
Resident          $25.00 
Non-Resident                   $125.00 
         
Seasonal Launching 
Resident           $10.00 
Non-Resident            $50.00 

         
Commercial Pier Use Permit:  (Includes wash-down pump)                   
Resident   (with a vehicle up to 12,000 GVW)     $20.00 
Non-Resident   (with a vehicle up to 12,000 GVW)                         $100.00 
Seafood/Bait Dealers for individual Commercial Permit Holders     $100.00 
Additional Vehicle up to 12,000 GVW       $20.00 
         

5



Waterproof Insulated Bait Storage:  (4′ x 4′ space - $25 fee per space) 
Resident     $25.00 x __ of spaces  
Bait Box Wait list    $5.00 x __ of spaces  
         
Wash-Down Pump Use: 
Residents           $25.00 
Non-Residents                   $125.00    
      
Winch use by certified individuals: (Requires a Commercial Pier Use Permit) 
Resident           $25.00   
Non-Resident                                         $125.00   
One Time Use – Authorized by Harbor Master)     $50.00   
         

Seafood Dealer Permit:  (Individual/Company dealing in seafood) 
Class I: Four wheels on ground                  $75.00 
Class II: Up to six wheels on ground                          $250.00 
Class III: Up to ten wheels on ground               $500.00 
       
 Note:  Additional fee - $20 per 2,000 lbs. each vehicle exceeds the 12,000 lb. maximum.  
 Seafood Dealer Permit includes Commercial Pier Permit, Winch, and Wash-Down permits.  
 
Bait Dealer Permit:  (Individuals who sell bait to Commercial Fisherman) 
Class I: Four wheels on ground     $75.00 
Class II: Up to six wheels on ground                        $250.00 
Class III: Up to ten wheels on ground             $500.00 
         
Note:  Additional fee - $20 per 2,000 lbs. each vehicle exceeds the 12,000 lb. maximum.  
Bait Dealer Permit includes Commercial Pier Permit, Winch, and Wash-Down permits.  
 

Commercial Tour and Passenger Boats (including tenders) and Boat Rentals:  

Resident                           $200.00 
Non-Resident                $1200.00 
Resident Occasional Use (up to once a week)              $80.00 
Non-Resident Occasional Use (up to once a week)                       $400.00  
 
 
Mooring Wait List 
Inner Mooring Wait List      $10.00                
Outer Mooring Wait List      $10.00 
 
With the exception of mooring fees, all fees will be discounted 50% beginning September 1st of each 
year. 
 
 
 
BRUNSWICK 
 
Brunswick does not have a fee, I have tried for the last five years to have fees instituted but no luck yet. 
 
 
CHEBEAGUE  
 
Chebeague’s mooring fees are fixed in our ordinance and have not changed as follows: 

6



As you will note, there are some problems with our ordinance that are in the long process of being 
corrected.  State Law allows for one riparian mooring.  Don’t think that hasn’t been a hot topic here… 
We included our summer property owners at the same level as residents. 
Thanks, 
Claire 
 
5.2.2 Mooring Fee Schedule 
                                                                        1st Mooring      2nd        3rd        Each Additional 
                        Riparian                                       $25              $5       $5             $5 

Commercial                                 $25              $5       $5             $5   
Commercial Non-resident           $50                                            $50 

                        Resident Recreational                 $40              $20                       $20 
                        Non-resident Taxpayer               $40              $20                       $20 
                        Non-resident                               $75              $20                       $20 

Rental Mooring                           $75              $75                       $75 
 
 
BOOTHBAY HARBOR 
  
Resident (Tax payer) $40 
  
Non-Resident $80 
  
Association/Club $50 
  
Marine Enterprise (For Rent) $65 
  
Fran Hunt HM 
 
 
PORTLAND/SOUTH PORTLAND 
  
Resident - $73.00 
Non-Resident - $140.00 
  
Resident Late Fee - $123.00 
Non-Resident Late Fee - $240.00 
Our rates have not changed since 2007 and I do not expect any changes in 2011. 
 
 
 
ROCKPORT  
 

Marine Park/ Harbor Fees   

Proposed 07-01-10 to 6-30-11   
    
 
 
Moorings FEE   
Residents 100   
Multiple Moorings (per mooring) 100   
Rental Moorings 148   
Non-Resident 200   

7



     
Inner Harbor Commercial 170   
Inner Harbor Resident 200   
Inner Harbor Non-Resident 225   
Commercial Float & Parking    
Residents 110   
Non-Resident 150   
Sternman 45   
Private Float    
Goose River 200   
Tie-Offs    
Residents 140   
Non-Resident 240   
Rack Space    
Dingy  70   
Dingy Removal  50   
Boat Ramp    
Resident/use 4   
Resident/season 25   
Non-Resident/use 5   
Non-Resident/season 40   
Kayak res/ non res $1 / $2   
Commercial Hauler/use 40   
Commercial Hauler/season 480   
Commercial Guide/season 240   
Winter Storage    
Resident/Non-resident 1.00/SQ FT  
    
Overnight Dockage    
Linear Foot/night <60' 2   
Linear Foot/night >60' 3   
Parking    
Overnight per night 6   
Waiting List Fee    
Moorings 10   
Tie-offs 10   
    
 
 
BOOTHBAY 
 
Hi Katherine, The Town of Boothbay charges $20 for residents and also non-resident who own property. 
$50 for non-residents. $50 for guest, service and rental moorings.Fees not paid by the 15th of August are 
considered deliquent and are doubled. No applications will be processed until all related fees, excise 
taxes, charges, or penalties have been paid in full.   
Hope this helps.  Tommie 
 
 

8



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE

HARBOR MASTER

PERSONNEL SERVICES Hours/Wk Hours Rate Annual Totals
Harbor Master 10.0 520 27.85         14,482       14,482            
Deputy Harbor Master 15.0 780 18.01         14,048       14,048            
Town Clerks Office 3.0 156 20.00         3,120         3,120              
Fringe Benefits 35% 11,077       11,077            

42,727            

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES Pct. Budget Annual Totals
Insurance Watercraft 50% 3,000         1,500         1,500              
Insurance Vehicle 25% 2,000         500            500                 
R & M Vehicles 20% 5,000         1,000         1,000              
R & M Equipment                50% 1,000         500            500                 
Postage 30% 500            150            150                 
Telephone 50% 500            250            250                 
Advertising 20% 300            60              60                   
Photocopies 50% 500            250            250                 
Travel                         30% 2,000         600            600                 
Training                       50% 2,100         1,050         1,050              
Membership & Dues              100% 400            400            400                 
General Supplies 30% 150            45              45                   
Office Supplies 25% 400            100            100                 
Gasoline 30% 7,500         2,250         2,250              
Tires Tubes & Props 30% 1,500         450            450                 
Wearing Apparel 30% 1,500         450            450                 
Wharf and Debris Removal 50% 1,000         500            500                 
Rivers Coastal Waters Comm.. 100% 5,000         5,000         5,000              

15,055            
CAPITAL OUTLAY

Pct. Total Cost Harbor Cost Life Totals
Replacement of Boat 50% 35,000       17,500       20              875                 
Replacement Outboard Engine 33% 19,000       6,270         10              627                 
Replacement Vehicle 25% 35,000       8,750         7                1,250              

2,752              

TOTALS 60,534            

Number Recovery
Moorings 300            100% 202                 

75% 151                 
50% 101                 
33% 67                   
25% 50                   

9



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

1 
7905394.2 

 
 

  Chapter 11 
 

MARINE ACTIVITIES, STRUCTURES AND WAYS* 
__________  
 

*Cross References: Conservation Commission, § 2-76 et seq.; Buildings and Building Regulations, Ch. 5; 
Fire Prevention and Protection, Ch. 7; Housing, Ch. 8; Solid Waste, Ch. 13; Streets, Sidewalks and Other 
Public Places, Ch. 14; Discharge of Sewerage Into Surface Waters Prohibited, § 16-26; Zoning and 
Subdivision of Land, App. A; Marine Construction, App. A, § 407. 

 
State Law References: Harbor Masters, 38 M.R.S.A. § 1 et seq., Disposal of Unclaimed, Lost or Stolen 
Personal Property by Law Enforcement Agencies, 25 M.R.S.A. § 3501 et seq., Law Enforcement Training 
for Harbor Masters 25 M.R.S.A. §  2804-I.  

__________  
 

 Art.    I. Harbor, Coastal, Tidal and Navigable Fresh Waters, §§ 11-1--11-25 
 

 Art.    II. Reserved, §§ 11-26--11-70 
 

 Art. III. Shellfishing, §§ 11-71--11-165 
 

 Div. 1. Generally, §§ 11-71--11-95 
 

 Div. 2.  Marine Resource Committee, §§ 11-96--11-110 
 

 Div. 3. Shellfish Regional Advisory Commission, §§ 11-111--11-130 
 

 Div. 4. License, §§ 11-131--11-160 
 

 Div. 5. Regulations, §§ 11-161--11-165 
 

  ARTICLE I. 
 

HARBOR, COASTAL, TIDAL AND NAVIGABLE FRESH WATERS 
 

Sec. 11-0      General. 
 

(A)  Purpose.  To establish the boundaries of channels in harbors and to regulate other 
activities in the harbors, coastal, tidal, and navigable waters within the Town of 
Brunswick, Maine in order to ensure safety to persons and property, to promote 
availability, preservation, and use of a valuable public resource, and to create a 
fair and efficient framework for administration of the resource. 

 
(B) Authority.  This article is adopted pursuant to the authority granted by 38 

M.R.S.A §§ 1-13, 30-A M.R.S.A § 3001, and the Constitution of Maine, Article 
VIII, Part 2. 

 
(C) Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or other portion of this 

10



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

2 
7905394.2 

Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed to be a separate, distinct, and 
independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions. 

 
(Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-1      Definitions. 
 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this Article, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them as set forth in this Section, except where the context clearly 
indicates a different meaning:  
 

Anchorage. All navigable waters defined within the municipal boundaries of the 
Town of Brunswick. 
 
Association. An organization of residential property owners, whether in the form 
of a homeowner association, subdivision association, condominium association, 
road association, unit  owner association, planned unit development, residential 
real estate management association, or similar ownership arrangement or 
structure, where the organization assists with maintaining and improving 
Association property or property that is commonly held by its members. 

Boat Yard. A place adjacent to coastal waters, where, as a business or gainful 
occupation, watercraft are hauled, stored, repaired and/or constructed.  
 
Channels. Those paths designated by this Chapter for navigation in or access to 
the harbor, coastal, tidal and navigable fresh waters of Brunswick.   
 
Commercial mooring.  A mooring used with profit as a primary aim.  Commercial 
moorings require Army Corps of Engineers approval.  
 
Commercial use. A use with profit as a primary aim.  
 
Haul Off Mooring. A mooring or tether system for a dinghy or watercraft which 
allows the dinghy or watercraft to be hauled to and from a mooring block or 
anchor to the shore by a system of lines secured at the shore.  
 
Houseboat. A raft, hull, barge or vessel, designed primarily to be used as a 
commercial establishment or living quarters, rather than for navigation.  
 
Marina. An all-tide waterfront facility, whose activities may include sales, 
storage, and maintenance of watercraft, and which provides slips or moorings for 
permanent, rental or transient berthing, and sells fuel, and supplies for watercraft 
and provides vehicle parking. 
 
Mooring. A means of securing a single watercraft to a particular location, other 

11



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

3 
7905394.2 

than a pier or dock; an underwater device, either helix, granite block, or 
mushroom, which tethers watercraft. A temporary mooring is one which is 
constructed to be hauled out of the water seasonally.  A permanent mooring is one 
which is constructed to winter over in the water.  A flats mooring is one which is 
located on the mud flats at low tide. 
 
Multi-use Mooring. A registered, non-commercial mooring that hosts more than 
one watercraft over the course of a season for personal use only.  Personal use 
includes, but is not limited to, use by a visiting family member.  Multi-use 
moorings cannot be rented or leased and owners of multi-use moorings must 
inform the Harbor Master regarding what watercraft will use the mooring each 
season.  No more than one watercraft may be moored at a time. 

 
Non-resident. All persons not residents of the Town of Brunswick are classified 
as non-residents. 

 
Private mooring.  Any mooring that is not a commercial mooring or rental 
mooring. 
 
Rental mooring.  Rental moorings are considered commercial moorings and 
require Army Corps of Engineers approval. 
 
Resident. A person who occupies a dwelling for more than six (6) months in a 
calendar year within the Town of Brunswick, a Brunswick real estate tax payer, or 
a registered voter in the Town of Brunswick.  
 
Town Wharfs. Any floats or structures located at town owned or operated boat 
launches.  
 
Watercraft. Any type of vessel, boat, barge, float, or craft used on the water. 
 
Yacht Club. A private association, corporation or other legal entity organized to 
promote recreational boating. 
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-2      Channels. 
 

(A)  Establishment of channels. Two (2) channels are established, described as 
follows: 

 
(1) Commencing at the Old Bath Road bridge as it crosses the New Meadows 

River, thence following the high water mark of the New Meadows River 
southerly to the southerly tip of Howard Point, thence easterly to the town line 
between Brunswick and West Bath, thence following the town line northerly 
to the Bath Road bridge, thence westerly along the Bath Road bridge to the 

12



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

4 
7905394.2 

point of beginning. 
 

(2) Commencing at the mean high water line on the Mere Point Boat Launch 
ramp surface and extending approximately three hundred fifty (350) feet to 
the southeast between buoys marking the fifty (50) foot wide approach lane to 
the ramp. 

 
(B)  Passage of vessels. A person shall not use any watercraft or any other device or 

structure within the described channels so as to interfere with or impede the 
passage of vessels in the channel in any manner. 

 
(C)  Mooring. A person shall not place, anchor, or moor any watercraft within the 

described channels without the permission of the Harbor Master.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-3      Harbor Master. 
 

(A)  Appointment. The town shall appoint a Harbor Master every three years (or upon 
vacancy) on May 1st for a period of three years.  Pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. § 1-A, a 
person appointed or reappointed as Harbor Master must complete a basic harbor 
master training course offered by a statewide harbor masters association within 
one year after being appointed or reappointed, unless that person has previously 
completed such a course.  

 
 (B)  Duties. The Harbor Master shall have the following responsibilities and duties: 
 

(1) To the extent of jurisdiction, enforce any and all federal, state and local laws, 
ordinances, codes, rules or regulations relating to the management and control 
of the Town of Brunswick's harbor, coastal, tidal and navigable fresh waters, 
shores, coastline, boat launch facilities, and wharfs; 
 

(2) Provide information or seek input as appropriate from any source, including 
the Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission, the Marine Resources 
Committee, Marine Wardens, Town Manager, Town Council, or Town 
Attorney; 
 

(3) Approve and control the placement of all moorings within the harbor, coastal, 
tidal, and navigable fresh waters of the Town of Brunswick pursuant to the 
provisions of this Ordinance.  

 
(4) Maintain accurate records of all registered moorings; and 

 
(5) Serve as staff to the Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission (the 

“Commission”), regularly attend Commission meetings, inform the 
Commission of his/her activities and provide such information as may be 

13



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

5 
7905394.2 

requested by the Commission for the execution of its duties.  The Harbor 
Master shall also report to the Town Council regarding his/her activities and 
the activities of the Commission. 
 

 (C)  Authority to carry a weapon and make arrests. Pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. § 1, a 
Harbor Master may not make arrests or carry a firearm unless the Harbor Master 
has successfully completed the training requirements prescribed in Title 25, 
Section 2804-I of the Maine Revised Statutes.  A harbor master who has 
completed this training shall be assigned to a division under the Police 
Department.  

 
 (Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of 4-7-08(1); Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-4      Moorings. 
 

(A)  Mooring Assignments. Mooring privileges in the Town of Brunswick shall be 
assigned pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. §§ 3 and 11. Consequently, mooring 
assignments are available to individuals who are the owners or masters of a 
watercraft and who own shore rights to a parcel of land, which is defined as a lot 
that satisfies applicable minimal buildable lot size requirements and includes at 
least 100 feet of shoreline frontage.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, mooring 
assignments are also available to individuals who, prior to January 1, 1987, 
owned shore rights of at least 100 feet of frontage regardless of the size of the lot. 
Only one mooring may be assigned to any shorefront parcel of land under this 
privilege. 

 
(B)  Grandfathered moorings. Notwithstanding Section 11-4(A), mooring privileges in 

lawful existence on the effective date of this Ordinance shall be preserved.  
Nothing in this subsection shall be construed as a limitation on the authority of the 
Harbor Master with respect to use and location of the moorings.   

 
(C) Transferability of Mooring Assignments. Pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. §§ 3 and 3-A, 

mooring assignments may not be transferred unless the mooring is used for 
commercial fishing purposes.  Transfer of a mooring assignment used for 
commercial fishing purposes is permitted only at the request or death of the 
mooring owner, only to a member of the mooring owner’s family, and only if the 
mooring assignment will continue to be used for commercial fishing purposes.  A 
member of the mooring owner’s family means a parent, child, or sibling, by birth 
or adoption, including a relation of the half blood, or the mooring owner’s spouse.   

 
(D) Registration. Owners of parcels that qualify under Section 11-4(A) who desire a 

mooring assignment and owners of grandfathered mooring assignments must 
submit a mooring registration form to the Harbor Master each year.   

 
In the year 2015, the Harbor Master shall no later than two weeks after enactment 
of this Ordinance by the Town Council send via U.S. Mail or email a notice to all 

14



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

6 
7905394.2 

registered mooring owners informing them of the June 1st deadline for submission 
of the annual mooring registration form.  Each year thereafter, the Harbor Master 
shall no later than January 31st send via U.S. Mail or email a notice to all 
registered mooring owners informing them of the May 1st deadline for submission 
of the annual registration form.  Notice of the registration deadline shall also be 
posted in the Town Hall and on the Town of Brunswick’s website no later than 
January 31st.   
 
Mooring registration forms may be downloaded from the Town of Brunswick’s 
website or obtained from the Town Clerk or the Harbor Master.   

 
Registration forms shall require the following information: 

 
(1) Description of the watercraft to be moored, including state and/or federal 

registration numbers, make and model, color, length, propulsion, draft, and 
weight; 

 
(2) The applicant’s name (or names, in the event the mooring is to be held jointly 

by adult members of the same household), residence address or local business 
address, mailing address (designated by the applicant as the address where the 
applicant will accept notices under this Ordinance), home or cell phone 
number, and email address;   

 
(3) Type and weight of mooring; 

 
(4) Type and size of bottom and top chains;  

 
(5) A name, address, and telephone number of an emergency contact, whom the 

mooring owner authorizes to make decisions surrounding the mooring in his 
or her absence;  

  
(6) GPS location (or proposed location) of the mooring; 

 
(7) The signature of the applicant, or the applicant’s designee, and the date of the 

application; and 
 

(8) Dates of installation and of the most recent inspection. 
 
 (E) Fees. The Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission will recommend mooring 

registration fees to be adopted by the Brunswick Town Council.  Mooring 
registration fees may be amended from time to time. Mooring registration fee 
schedules will be available at the Town Clerk’s Office and on the Town of 
Brunswick’s website. 
 

The annual mooring registration fees shall be as follows: 
 
Resident	mooring	 	 $50	

15



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

7 
7905394.2 

Non‐resident	mooring	 	 $100	
Mooring	in	a	commercial	field	 	 $50	
Moorings	in	a	public	mooring	field	 	 $50	
Helix	mooring	(replacement	of	regular)	 Free	for	5	years	
Late	registration	(after	deadline)	 Double	Fee	
 

 
 

(F) Mooring Inspection Required. Every two years, each registered mooring shall be 
inspected by the mooring owner at the mooring owner’s expense and must be 
determined by the mooring owner to be in a safe condition.  The date of 
inspection must be recorded on the mooring registration form.  The mooring 
owner is responsible for the adequacy and performance of all mooring gear, 
tackle, and maintenance thereof.  The Harbor Master has the authority to inspect 
at any time any mooring and to require any necessary maintenance or replacement 
of parts or the whole mooring, tackle and/or gear, for which the mooring owner 
shall be responsible for all costs incurred. 

 
The Town of Brunswick assumes no liability whatsoever for the actual 
performance or adequacy of any mooring system employed by a mooring owner. 

 
(G)  Placement standards. The Harbor Master shall approve the location of all 

moorings in the harbor, coastal, and tidal waters of Brunswick.  All moorings 
shall meet the following standards: 

 
(1) Moorings shall be adequate for the size, weight, and windage of the 

watercraft. 
 

(2) Moorings shall be located in areas that do not interfere with navigation. 
 

(3) Moorings shall not encroach into the channels of Brunswick. 
 

(4) Moorings shall be located in areas that do not cause unreasonable adverse 
impacts on natural resources.  Conditions that may result in an unreasonable 
adverse impact on natural resources include, but are not limited to: 

 
i. The presence of eel grass or other submerged vegetation; 

 
ii.  The presence of a significant shellfish habitat, or important recreational or 

commercial fishing ground; 
 

iii. The proposed location is within mapped Significant Shorebird Feeding or 
Roosting Habitat (based on Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and 
Wildlife and Maine Department of Environmental Protection Maps); 

 
iv. The proposed location is within mapped Tidal Waterfowl and Wadingbird 

Habitat (based on Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife and 

16



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

8 
7905394.2 

Maine Department of Environmental Protection Maps); 
 

v. The proposed location is within habitat for listed rare, threatened, or 
endangered species, and regular use of a mooring in that location would 
unreasonably adversely impact the species; or 

 
vi. The proposed location would cause unreasonable adverse impacts to a 

saltmarsh. 
 

Nothing in this Subsection shall be construed to limit the authority of the 
Harbor Master to consider other factors and make determinations on 
unreasonable adverse impacts to natural resources on a case-by-case basis.  
Where practicable, the Harbor Master shall work with the mooring owner to 
evaluate and select placement and tackle alternatives in order to mitigate 
unreasonable adverse impacts on natural resources.  
 

(5)  The Harbor Master’s authority under this Section shall not be inconsistent 
with Army Corps of Engineers and Maine Department of Environmental 
Protection approvals governing existing commercial moorings in mooring 
fields.   
 

(6) Where practicable, the Harbor Master shall, if so requested, locate the 
mooring within reasonable proximity of the mooring owner’s property. 

 
All moorings that meet the above standards but are not placed in the location 
approved by the Harbor Master shall be moved by the owner at his or her own 
expense in accordance with the instructions of the Harbor Master.  In the event of 
a mooring owner’s failure to comply with the relocation and/or removal 
instructions of the Harbor Master, the Harbor Master shall move or remove the 
improperly located mooring and the cost shall be borne by the owner of the 
mooring.  Before removing a mooring, the Harbor Master shall notify the owner, 
if ownership can be determined, by mail at the owner’s last known address, or by 
email.  The notice shall inform the owner of the desired action and of the fact that 
the mooring will be removed at the expense of the owner if the owner does not 
comply.  If the matter is not settled to the Harbor Master’s satisfaction within two 
(2) weeks after notice was given, the Harbor Master may then move or remove 
the mooring. 

 
(H) Identifying Numbers. Identifying numbers shall be issued to mooring owners, and 

mooring balls and buoys must be clearly marked with the issued number.  
Numbers shall be a minimum of four (4) inches and visible at all times.  
Replacement mooring balls and buoys shall maintain the originally assigned 
number.  An annual mooring registration sticker, issued by the Harbor Master 
upon completion and approval of the mooring registration, shall be affixed to the 
top of the mooring buoy for which it was assigned.   

 

17



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

9 
7905394.2 

(I)  Ownership of Moorings. All mooring assignments (with the exception of marina 
moorings) shall be used exclusively for the use of the mooring owner and solely 
for the watercraft (or in the case of a multi-use mooring, multiple watercraft) 
listed in the application. 

 
(J) Termination. All persons who had been assigned a mooring and whose mooring 

assignment is to be terminated by the Harbor Master for reasons of non-
compliance with this article or any other reason shall receive written notification 
from the Harbor Master.  This notice shall state the fact of the termination and the 
reason for termination, and list the appeal procedures designated in Section 11-14 
of this Chapter. 

 
(K) Associations. Associations may establish and manage moorings plans on behalf of 

Association members, subject to input and approval by the Harbor Master. 
Mooring areas controlled by Associations shall be subject to the following 
requirements: 

 
(1) The Association manages moorings in designated areas; 

(2) The Association provides oversight of member mooring use, including 
inspections; and 

(3) The Association is registered with the Harbor Master and provides 
member/mooring holder rosters and mooring location plans. 

 Nothing in this Subsection shall be construed as a limitation on the ability of the 
Harbor Master to carry out his responsibilities and duties as set forth in this 
Chapter. 

 
(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-5      Operation of watercraft.  
 

No watercraft shall be operated within two-hundred (200) feet of shore and within 
established mooring fields or moorings placed in a designated area in accordance with 
Section 11-4 (K) of this Chapter at a speed in excess of five knots or that causes a wash, 
wake or waves that disturbs or damages any wharf,  float or anchored or moored dock, or 
watercraft or that endangers any person or property.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-6      Town launch facilities. 
 

(A)  Use of town launch facilities consistent with the provisions of this article shall be 
permitted. 
 
(1) Commercial uses of town launch facilities require a special activity permit 

18



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

10 
7905394.2 

from the Town Clerk. 
 

 (B)  The following activities are prohibited at town launch facilities: 
 
   (1) Storage of bait or catch for unreasonable periods of time, as determined by 

the Harbor Master. 
   
   (2) Processing of seafood products.  For the purposes of this Section, 

"processing" does not include washing clams by repeated submersion of 
bushel bags in the water. 

 
   (3) Anchoring or mooring. 
 
   (4) Tying up to wharfs for more than thirty (30) minutes.  
 
   (5) Swimming or fishing except in designated areas.  
 
  (6)  Power loading or unloading, watercraft washing, watercraft painting, and 

bilge draining.   
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of 4-7-08(2); Ord. of ________) 
 
Sec. 11-7      Disruptive conduct.  
 

No person shall disrupt safe and lawful activities, or in any way threaten the public 
safety, in or around town launch facilities, wharfs, and harbors, coastal, tidal and 
navigable waters of the Town of Brunswick.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-8      Menaces to navigation.  
 

The Harbor Master is authorized to take whatever action is necessary and appropriate to 
remove any menace to navigation within the harbor, coastal, tidal and navigable fresh 
waters of the Town of Brunswick.  This shall include, but is not limited to, contracting 
for removal of the menace by the authorities of the State of Maine, Federal Government, 
or a private contractor at the expense of either the Town of Brunswick, some other 
governmental entity, or the private entity or individual responsible  for the  creation of the 
menace.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-9      Dumping of sewage prohibited.  
 

No person may discharge, spill or permit to be discharged sewage, garbage, or other 
pollutants from any watercraft into the harbor, coastal, tidal and navigable fresh waters of 

19



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

11 
7905394.2 

the Town of Brunswick or onto the ice or banks thereof in such a manner that the same 
may fall or be washed into such waters or in such a manner that the drainage may flow 
into such waters.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05) 
 
Sec. 11-10      Failure to obey order of the Harbor Master.  
 

As provided by 38 M.R.S.A.§ 13, a person is guilty of failure to obey an order of the 
Harbor Master if the person intentionally, knowingly or recklessly fails to obey any 
lawful order of the Harbor Master authorized pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. §1 et seq.  Failure 
to obey an order of the Harbor Master is a Class E Crime.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05) 
 
Sec. 11-11      Forfeiture.  
 

Any watercraft, skiff, float, dock, fishing gear, or wharf left tied to a town wharf without 
proper  identification, or left sunk or awash, for a period exceeding forty-eight (48) hours 
shall be deemed abandoned for the purposes of this Section.  Any abandoned property 
shall be impounded by the Harbor Master and disposed of according to the procedure 
outlined in Title 25, Chapter 401.  The Town shall not be liable for any damage to 
abandoned property that is impounded in accordance with this Section.   
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-12      Enforcement.  
 

This Chapter shall be enforced pursuant to the provisions of 38 M.R.S.A § 1 et seq. and 
30-A M.R.S.A. § 4452.  Any person found in violation of this article shall, after notice 
and hearing, lose his or her mooring privileges and all rights to use the town launch 
facilities and wharfs.  In addition, the town shall have available all other remedies 
provided by law.  
 

(Ord. of 4-4-05; Ord. of ______) 
 
Sec. 11-13      Boat storage. 
 

No boat, vessel, raft, barge, or other watercraft shall be stored overnight in or on any 
navigable waters within the town without being licensed or permitted to do so.  A person 
found in violation will be subjected to the cost of removing the vessel, boat, raft, barge, 
or watercraft and be fined one hundred and fifty dollars ($150.00). 
 

(Ord. of 06-20-11(1)) 
  
Sec. 11-14      Appeals. 

20



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

12 
7905394.2 

 
(A) Any person directly aggrieved by a decision, order, rule, or action by the Harbor 

Master may appeal said decision, order, rule or action to the Rivers and Coastal 
Waters Commission. 

 
(B) Such appeal shall be made in writing within 30 calendar days of the decision, 

order, rule, or act from which the appeal is taken. It must state with specificity the 
decision, order, rule, or act from which the appeal is taken and the reason for the 
appeal.  The Commission at its next regular meeting, or pursuant to a specially 
called meeting, shall consider the appeal.  The decision on appeal by the 
Commission shall be written and state the reasons and basis for the decision. 

 
(C) Any decision, order, rule, or act by the Harbor Master concerning the location of 

moorings, as a result of which location there is an immediate danger to life or 
property, shall not be stayed pending the appeal. 

 
(D) Any party directly aggrieved by the decision of the Commission may appeal 

within thirty (30) days to the superior court in accordance with the Maine Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

 
(Ord. of ________) 
 
Sec. 11-15      Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission. 
 

(A) Purpose. The Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission works toward harbor 
improvement and management, consistent with the objectives and priorities of the 
Town’s Harbor Management Plan (“HMP”).  The Commission will bring 
recommendations for policy, oversight and/or action(s) to the Town Council, as 
appropriate.  The Town Council will have ultimate authority over adopting the 
Commission’s recommendations. 
 

(B) Administrative Matters. The Commission will meet bimonthly, quarterly, or other 
frequency as determined by the Commissioners and Staff.  The Commission will 
elect its slate of officers, at an interval deemed most appropriate to its 
membership. 

 
(C) Appeals. The Rivers and Coastal Waters Commission also sits as a board of 

appeals to hear appeals from any person aggrieved by any order, rule, or action by 
the Harbor Master as set forth in Section 11-14 of this Chapter.   

 
(D) Staffing and Membership. The primary staff to the Commission shall be the 

Harbor Master. The Commission will be composed of seven (7) Voting Members; 
Two (2) Ex-Officio Non-Voting Members; Two (2) Alternates; and One (1) Non-
Voting Primary Staff Member, as described in the Town Council charge adopted 
April 28, 2014, as amended from time to time.  

 

21



  FINAL 01/28/2015 
 

13 
7905394.2 

(Ord. of ________) 
 
11-16--11-25      Reserved. 

22



 
 

 
ITEM 111 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	
	

O:\Council\Memos	to	Council\2015\Memo	Municipal	Code	Revenues	102815.docx	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 October	28,	2015	
	
SUBJECT:	 Municipal	Code	Amendments	‐	Revenues	
	
	
	
For	some	time,	we	have	been	working	on	amending	the	Municipal	Code	of	Ordinances	to	remove	
the	revenues,	charges,	fees	and	fines	from	the	body	of	each	Code	section	that	mentions	them.		
Instead,	those	sections	would	reference	a	table	that	would	be	an	appendix	to	the	Municipal	Code.		
Creating	such	a	table	would	facilitate	a	more	timely	review	of	those	revenues.		As	we	know,	the	
Town	has	not	been	as	vigilant	as	it	should	have	been	in	regularly	reviewing	and	updating	fees.	
	
Attached	is	a	draft	of	the	Municipal	Code	amendments	that	would	implement	the	change	described	
above.		Also	attached	is	the	proposed	table	that	would	become	an	appendix	to	the	Code	–	Master	
Schedule	of	Revenues,	Charges,	Fees	and	Fines.		Please	note,	the	table	does	not	propose	to	change	
any	current	fees.		Further,	the	table	refers	to	the	General	Provisions	section	of	the	Municipal	Code	
where	language	has	been	added	indicating	that	the	table	will	be	adopted	and	amended	in	the	same	
manner	as	any	amendment	to	the	Code.		In	other	words,	changes	to	the	table	would	require	notice,	
hearing	and	adoption.	
	
In	reviewing	the	Municipal	Code,	it	was	clear	that,	beyond	the	revenue	references,	additional	work	
should	be	done	to	update	and	clarify	sections	of	the	Code.		That	effort	should	also	be	part	of	a	future	
project.	
	
Again,	the	impetus	for	these	changes	was	to	provide	a	mechanism	that	facilitated	a	more	timely	
review	and	update	of	the	Town’s	revenues,	charges,	fees	and	fines.		The	amendments	are	presented	
to	you	in	draft	form	as	the	Town	Attorney	is	reviewing	the	changes	and	departments	are	double‐
checking	the	changes	that	pertain	to	their	Code	sections.		The	Finance	Committee	reviewed	and	
supported	this	concept	it	at	its	October	15th	meeting.	
	
I	would	be	pleased	to	answer	any	questions	the	Town	Council	might	have	regarding	this	proposal.	
	
	
	
Attachments	

1



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

Sec. 2-129 8/9/2006 to obstruct, hinder or delay any emergency management agency 
forces (also liable for costs and attorney's fees)

$100, not more than $500

Sec. 3-4 12/19/2005 Application for a permit to install, maintain, or operate an alarm 
system  (non-refundable)

$5 fee, $25 each fire alarm 
or combination fire/police 

system

Sec. 3-12 12/19/2005 Police - false alarm to the emergency communications center three 
(3) times in any given calendar year 

$25 for each subsequent 
false alarm

Fire - false alarm to the emergency communications center two (2) 
times, in any given calendar year

$100 for each subsequent 
false alarm

Sec. 3-15 12/19/2005 Any violation of this chapter shall be punishable by a civil penalty $100 for first and second, 
and not more than $500 for 

third and subsequent 
violations

Sec. 4-31 11/1/2006 Impounding a dog (1st, 2nd, 3rd and subsequent impoundment of 
same dog) $25, $50, $100
Keeping the dog $5 per day
Notice by mail or by posting $3

Sec. 4-38 4/22/1997
Violation of any provision of this chapter (1st, 2nd, 3rd and 
subsequent offense)

not more than $25, $200, 
$500

Sec. 4-69 10/19/2009 A person who keeps domesticated chickens shall obtain a license $10, late fee $10
Violation of any provision, each day a separate offense $100.00

Sec. 4-97 10/17/2011 Initial license for domesticated farm animal, renewal $100.00/$50.00
Late fee for expired license, doubled after thirty days $25.00/$50.00

Sec. 4-99 10/17/2011 Violation of any provision, each day a separate offense $100

Sec. 5-52 3/19/2012 building permit, minimum fee $45
Each square foot of floor area for one- and two-family dwellings $0.35 per sq. ft.
Each square foot of floor area for new or used mobile home $0.20 per sq. ft.
Installation of used mobile home $100
Unattached, unenclosed, unheated structure $0.20 per sq. ft.
All other use groups from Chapter 3 of MUBEC $0.40 per sq. ft.
Alterations, renovations for all one- and two- family dwellings $6 per $1,000 of 

construction value

Alterations, renovations to other groups in Article 3 of MUBEC $9 per $1,000 of 
construction value

Foundation only $0.40 per sq. ft.
Demolition permit (per structure) $50
Sign fees
    1-10 sq. ft. $10

Chapter 2 - Administration

Chapter 3 - Alarms

Chapter 4 - Animals

Chapter 5 - Buildings and Building Regulations

  1 of 6  
2



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

    11-25 sq. ft. $15
    26-50 sq. ft. $25
    51-100 sq. ft. $45
    Over  100 sq. ft. $45
    Plus, per sq. ft. $0.50
Not obtaining a permit or unreasonable delay double fee
Reinspection fee for subsequent inspections $50

Sec. 5-77 3/15/2010 Electrical inspection permit fee, general minimum fee $45
Reinspection for code violation $30
Original installations
    One- or two-family dwellings $0.06 per sq. ft.
    Other use groups in section 301.1 of BOCA Code $0.09 per sq. ft.
    All use groups in section 310 of BOCA, 1-10 fixtures or outlets $6
        11-20 fixtures or outlets $9
        21-31 fixtures or outlets $12
       Over 30 fixtures or outlets $25
Additions and Alterations
    Service and meter or replacement $45
    Each additional meter on same service $5
    Installations for appliances, water heaters, dryer, disposal, etc. $5
    Swimming pools $45
    Plus each appliance $5
    One electrical sign or lighting standard/each additional $5/$1
    Hazardous location $10
    Addition for each unit changed or added (pumps, fixtures,etc.) $5
    From 1-20 fixtures or outlets $45
    Over 20 fixtures or outlets, fee computed on sq ft basis (5B)
Not obtaining a permit or unreasonable delay double fee
Violation of any provisions of this code $100 maximum fine

Sec. 5-78 3/15/2010 Internal plumbing, per fixture/minimum permit $9/$36
Sec. 5-79 3/15/2010 Subsurface wastewater disposal fee 150% of state min fees

Sec. 6-4 4/22/2003 Performance bond minimum from franchisee $50,000
Violation of the charter by the cable operator $100

Sec. 7-27 10/6/2008 Violation of any provisions of the code $100 maximum fine
Permit fee for installation or enlargement/extension of existing system $10
Permit fee for installation of oil burning equipment and oil tanks $10 each
Permit for installation of solid fuel burning device $10
Penalty for violating provisions of the code $100 maximum fine

Sec. 8-34 8/17/1981 Violation or noncompliance with order or enforcement of this article $100 maximum fine

Chapter 6 - Cable Television

Chapter 7 - Fire Prevention and Protection

Chapter 8 - Housing

Chapter 9- Human Services

  2 of 6  
3



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

Sec. 9-41 6/1/2009 Fees for emergency medical services provided by the town
   Non-transport (billable) $160 per response
   ALS Assist $265 per response
   Basic Life Support $380 per response
   Advance Life Support $530 per response
   Advance Life Support 2 $690 per response
   Loaded Mile $11 per mile

Sec. 10-1 6/1/1992 Violation of the provisions of Section 10-1, minimum/maximum $100/$250
Sec. 10-26 3/23/2009 Business license application fee $25

Late fees (fees higher than $50.00, fees less than $50.00) $25/$10
If license has been expired more than thirty (30) days double fee
License for bowling alleys, billiards and other types of games $20 per lane or table
License for carnival or circus, daily $150, $25 for charitable
Peddler's license, weekly, up to 3 months, up to 6 months, up to 12 mo $25/$50/$75/$100
Pawnbroker's license $75
Pinball machines and other amusement devices (1 or more) $35 each
License fee for sellers of prepared food on a public way $25
License fee for sellers of prepared food at the Mall $1,500
License fee for sellers of prepared food at the Farmer's Market $3,000
Single day or single event license/single event license up to 3 days $25/$50
License for indoor or drive-in theater $150
Food Service Establishment with malt, vinous, and spirituous liquor $250
FSE with malt and vinous $200
FSE with malt or vinous $175
FSE with no alcohol--Sit-down $100
FSE with mobile carts, take-out coffee, popcorn, deli, pizza, etc. $75
FSE temporary 1 to 3 days (festival, holiday celebration, parade) $25
Innkeeper (1--15 rooms) includes complementary food $25
Innkeeper (over 15 rooms) includes complementary food $175
Secondhand dealer $75
Bazaar or flea market (1-3 days) $50
Bazaar or flea market annual license $225
Tattooing establishment license $75
Going out of business $50
Application fee for automobile graveyard or junkyard $25
Fee for an automobile graveyard or junkyard located more than one 
hundred (100) feet from a highway (plus cost of posting and 
publishing required notices)   $50
Fee for an automobile graveyard or junkyard located within one 
hundred (100) feet of any highway (plus cost of posting and 
publishing required notices)   $200

Chapter 10 - Licenses and Business Regulations

  3 of 6  
4



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

Fee for recycling business,annual inspection fee (plus cost of posting 
and publishing required notices)   

$250/$25

Violation of any provision of this subsection $2500.00 maximum fine
Non-profit application fee/sales license, single day (may be waived) $25/$500
Non-profit application fee/sales license, up to 3 days (may be waived) $25/$1,200
Alcohol license application $25

Sec. 10-28 6/1/1992 Violation of any provision of this article $250 maximum fine
Fine for giving false information to obtain a license $250 maximum fine

Sec. 10-46 11/1/2006 Application fee for license to collect or transport sewage $25
License to collect or transport sewage, per vehicle, per year $75
Fee for above license issued between July 1 and December 31 $38

Sec. 10-49
3/1/1993

Violation of this article first offense/second and subsequent offenses 
within a twelve month period of time

$500/$1,000 maximum 
fines

Sec. 10-73 11/1/2006 Special Amusement application fee/permit $25/$100
Sec. 10-77 6/1/1992 Violation of any of the provisions of this article $500 maximum fine
Sec. 10-99 11/1/2006 License for operation of horse-drawn carriage or taxicab, owner $65.00 each

   License for above issued between October 1 and March 31 $33.00 each
Sec. 10-104 11/1/2006 License for operation of horse-drawn carriage or taxicab, operator $30

   License for above issued between October 1 and March 31 $15
Sec. 10-108 2/5/1996 Violation of this article $250 maximum fine

Sec. 11-13 2/23/2015 Violation of boat storage article $150
Sec. 11-136 4/1/2013 Residential commercial shellfish license $300

Nonresident commercial shellfish license $450
Resident recreational shellfish license/over age 62 $25/free
Nonresident recreational shellfish license/over age 62 $50/free
Resident student shellfish license $75
Nonresident student shellfish license $125
Bushel license $175

Sec. 11.5-37 7/7/2008 Code violation citation $100
Sec. 11.5-38 7/7/2008 Civil penalty imposed upon the issuance of a citation

   First citation $100
   Second citation $200
   Third citation $400
   Fourth and subsequent citations $800

Sec. 11.5-39 7/7/2008 Civil penalties are cumulative
Sec. 11.5-72 10/20/2008 Violation of any provision of this article $500-$1,000

Sec. 12.5-7 9/7/1999 Violation of the provisions of this chapter, each day a separate offense up to $2,500

Sec. 13-30 (b) 1/1/2007 Price of PAYT bags for refuse collection, 15-gal/33-gal $0.50/$1

Chapter 11 - Marine Activities, Structures and Ways

Chapter 12.5 - Sludge and Residual Free Zone

Chapter 11.5 - Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions

Chapter 13- Solid Waste

  4 of 6  
5



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

Sec. 13‐30 (i) 1/1/2007

Fee for collecting all the household refuse which was not removed in 
compliance with subsection after issuance of one order to remove 
and one written notice of removal given

$100 up to 1 cubic yd; $100 
plus cost per cubic yd for > 

1 cubic yd

Sec. 13-40 3/1/1993 Commerc. waste collector license applic. fee, nonrefundable $25
Sec. 13-55 10/18/2006 Annual residential disposal permit per vehicle/last 4 months of year $5/$3
Sec. 13-72 5/18/2015 Residential waste disposal permits (per ton)

   Household refuse/minimum charge $80/$5
   White goods and scrap metal/minimum charge $60/$3
   Construction & demolition debris, etc.,/minimum charge $80/$5
   Asphalt shingles/minimum charge $60/$3
   Masonry/minimum charge $60/$3
   Waste wood and wood items/minimum charge $60/$3
Commercial waste fees (per ton)
   Disposal fee/minimum $80
   Asphalt shingles/minimum charge $60/$3
   Masonry/minimum charge $60/$3
   Waste wood and wood items/minimum charge $60/$3
   Tree and brush waste (per ton) $30/$3
   Tires, up to but not including eighteen (18) inch rim size (each) $2
   Truck tire, eighteen (18) inch rim diameter or greater (each) $2
   Heavy equipment tire and minimum charge per pound $25/$0.15
   White goods and scrap metal/minimum charge $60/$3
   Inseparable wood waste or masonry debris $160

Sec. 13-97 10/18/2006 Violation of this chapter first offense/2nd and subsequent offense, 
plus cost and attorney fees

$500/$1,000

Sec. 14-2 8/5/2005 Violation of this section first or second offense $100
Violation of this section third and subsequent offenses $500

Sec. 14-7 4/20/1987 Violation of any of the provisions of section 14-1 through 14-7 $100 maximum fine

Sec. 14-32 5/21/2001 Violation of any provisions of this code, minimum and maximum $25/$100

Sec. 14-73 5/18/2015 Excavation permit $100
Excavation permit for work Nov 1 - March 15 $500
Excavation permit within 5 yrs of most recent resurfacing $500
Excavation inspection fee $50
Excavation inspection for over 50 feet of utility line replacement or 
installation - open cut trench/directional drilling $1/$0.50 per l.f.

Excavation charges, up to 25 sq. yds / over 25 sq. yds.
   Bituminous concrete 4" or more in depth $45/$35
   Bituminous concrete less than 4" in depth $40/$30
   Bituminous concrete over portland cement concrete $50/$40
   Bituminous treated surface or shoulder $40/$30
   Plain gravel surface $10/$10

Chapter 14 - Streets, Sidewalks and other Public Places

  5 of 6  
6



Appendix A
Town of Brunswick

Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines
This schedule shall be adopted and amended as specified in Chapter 1 - General Provisions, Sec. 1.1 of this Code. 

Reference Date Description Amount

   Bituminous concrete sidewalk $40/$30
   Portland cement concrete sidewalk $35/$33
   Grass esplanade or median strip $20/$20
   Bituminous concrete curbing $15 per linear foot
   Granite curbing - removal or realignment $30 per linear foot
   Granite curbing - installation of new material $45 per linear foot

Sec. 14-80 8/8/1985 Violation of this article, for each offense $100 maximum fine

Sec. 14-151 10/20/2003 Violation of this division, first and second offense $100 maximum fine
Violation of this division, subsequent offenses $500 maximum fine

Sec. 14-164 6/18/1984 Failure to obtain membership to Coffin Pond $100 maximum fine
Unauthorized transfer of membership tag $100 maximum fine

Sec. 15-8 12/1/2014 Parking violation of article IV, sections 15-71 and 15-73 $25
Improper or failure to display a disability parking placard $10

Sec. 13-97 10/18/2006 Violation of this chapter first offense/2nd and subsequent offense, 
plus cost and attorney fees

$500/$1,000

Sec. 16-29 2/6/1989 Violation of this article first offense/second and subsequent offenses 
within a twelve month period of time, maximum fines

$100/$250

Sec. 16-85 7/6/1993 Violation beyond time limit in Division 2 of this article, maximum 
fine

$100 per day

Sec. 17-2 10/9/2004 Application for permit to carry a concealed firearm, original/renewal $35/$20
Sec. 17-3 10/9/2004 Violation of this section - first offense/second and subsequent offenses $100/$500 max fines
Sec. 17-5 10/9/2004 Violation of this section $500 maximum fine

Sec. 18-5 12/19/2011 Penalty for sale violation, first offense, plus costs and fees $300-$500

Penalty for sale violation, subsequent offenses, plus costs and fees $600-$1,000
Penalty for use violation, first offense, plus costs and fees $200-$400
Penalty for use violation, subsequent offenses, plus costs and fees $300-$600

Chapter 18- Consumer Fireworks

Chapter 15- Traffic and Vehicles

Chapter 17- Weapons

Chapter 16- Utilities

  6 of 6  
7



 

 

    Page 1 

Chapter 1 ‐ GENERAL PROVISIONS  

 

Sec. 1‐1. ‐ How Code designated and cited.  

The ordinances embraced in the following chapters and sections shall constitute and be designated 
the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Town of Brunswick, Maine, and may be so cited.  

State Law reference— Codification authority, 30-A M.R.S.A. § 3004.  

Sec. 1‐2. ‐ Definitions and rules of construction.  

In the construction of this Code, and of all ordinances, the following rules shall be observed, unless 
such construction would be inconsistent with the manifest intent of the town council:  

Charter. The word "Charter" shall mean the Charter of the Town of Brunswick, Maine, printed as Part 
I of this volume.  

Code. The word "Code" shall mean the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Town of Brunswick, Maine.  

Computation of time. In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by this Code, the day of 
the act, event or default from which the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The 
last day of the period so computed shall be included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in 
which event the period shall run until the end of the next day which is neither a Saturday, Sunday or legal 
holiday. When the period of time prescribed or allowed is less than seven (7) days, intermediate 
Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays shall be excluded in the computation.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(12).  

County. The term "county" shall mean the County of Cumberland.  

Delegation of authority. Whenever a provision appears requiring the head of a department or some 
other city officer or employee to do some act or perform some duty, it shall be construed to authorize the 
head of the department or other officer or employee to designate, delegate and authorize subordinates to 
perform the required act or perform the duty unless the terms of the provision or section specify 
otherwise.  

Gender. A word importing either the masculine or feminine gender shall extend and be applied to 
both the masculine and feminine genders, and to firms, partnerships and corporations.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(7).  

Joint authority. Words purporting to give authority to three (3) or more officers or other persons shall 
be construed as giving such authority to a majority of such officers or other persons, unless it is otherwise 
declared.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(3).  

Keeper and proprietor. The words "keeper" and "proprietor" shall mean and include persons, firms, 
associations, corporations, clubs and copartnerships, whether acting by themselves or through a servant, 
agent or employee.  

8



 

 

    Page 2 

M.R.S.A. The abbreviation "M.R.S.A." shall mean the latest edition or supplement of the Maine 
Revised Statutes Annotated.  

Number. A word importing the singular may extend and be applied to the plural, and vice versa.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(9).  

Oath. The word "oath" shall include an affirmation in all cases in which, by law, an affirmation may be 
substituted for an oath, and in such cases the words "swear" and "sworn" shall be equivalent to the words 
"affirm" and "affirmed."  

Owner. The word "owner" applied to a building or land shall include any part owner, joint owner, 
tenant in common, tenant in partnership, joint tenant, or tenant by the entirety, of the whole or of a part of 
such building or land.  

Person. The word "person" shall extend and be applied to associations, clubs, societies, firms, 
partnerships and bodies politic and corporate as well as to individuals.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 30-A M.R.S.A. § 2001(14).  

Personal property. The term "personal property" includes every kind, tangible and intangible except 
real property.  

Property. The word "property" shall include real, personal and mixed property.  

Public property. The term "public property" shall mean owned by the town and any place subject to 
the primary control of any public agency, including but not limited to any park, street, public way, 
cemetery, schoolyard or open space adjacent thereto and any lake or stream.  

Real property. The term "real property" shall include lands, tenements and hereditaments.  

Sidewalk. The word "sidewalk" shall mean any portion of a street between the curbline and the 
adjacent property line, intended for the use of pedestrians, excluding parkways.  

Signature or subscription. The word "signature" or "subscription" includes a mark when the person 
cannot write.  

State. The term "state" shall mean the State of Maine.  

Street, town way or public way. The word "street" shall embrace streets, highways, avenues, 
boulevards, roads, town ways, lanes, bridges, and all other public ways dedicated to public use.  

Tenant, occupant. The words "tenant" and "occupant" applied to a building or land shall include any 
person holding a written or oral lease of, or who occupies the whole or part of such building or land, either 
alone or with others.  

Tense. Words used in the past or present tense include the future as well as the past and present.  

Town. The word "town" shall mean the Town of Brunswick, Maine, and shall extend to and include its 
several officers, agents and employees.  

Town council, council. The terms "town council" and "council" shall mean the Town Council of the 
Town of Brunswick, Maine.  

Town boards, committees, commissions, officers, employees, departments, etc. Whenever reference 
is made to a board, committee, commission, officer, employee or department, etc., it shall mean the same 
as if it were followed by the words "of the Town of Brunswick, Maine."  

Written and in writing. The words "written" and "in writing" shall include any representation of words, 
letters or figures, whether by printing or otherwise.  

Sec. 1‐3. ‐ Catchlines of sections.  

9



 

 

    Page 3 

The catchlines of the several sections of this Code printed in boldface type are intended as mere 
catchwords to indicate the contents of the sections and shall not be deemed or taken to be titles of such 
sections, nor as any part of the sections; nor, unless expressly so provided, shall they be so deemed 
when any of such sections, including the catchlines, are amended or reenacted.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(10).  

Sec. 1‐4. ‐ History notes.  

The history notes appearing in parentheses after sections of this Code are not intended to have any 
legal effect, but are merely intended to indicate the source of matter contained in the section.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(10).  

Sec. 1‐5. ‐ References and editor's notes.  

References and editor's notes following certain sections are inserted as an aid and guide to the 
reader and are not controlling nor meant to have any legal effect.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(10).  

Sec. 1‐6. ‐ Code does not affect prior offenses, rights, etc.  

Nothing in this Code or the ordinances adopting this Code shall affect any offense or act committed 
or done, or any penalty or forfeiture incurred, or any contract or right established or accruing before the 
effective date of this Code.  

Sec. 1‐7. ‐ Effect of repeals.  

The repeal of an ordinance or portion of this Code shall not revive any ordinance or portion of this 
Code in force before or at the time the provision repealed took effect. The repeal of an ordinance or a 
portion of this Code shall not affect any punishment or penalty incurred before the repeal took effect, nor 
any suit, prosecution or proceeding pending at the time of the repeal, for an offense committed under the 
provision repealed.  

Sec. 1‐8. ‐ Certain ordinances not affected by Code.  

Nothing in this Code or the ordinance adopting this Code shall be construed to repeal or otherwise 
affect the validity of any of the following when not inconsistent with this Code:  

(1) Any offense or act committed or done or any penalty or forfeiture incurred before the effective 
date of this Code;  

(2) Any ordinance or resolution promising or guaranteeing the payment of money for the town, or 
authorizing the issue of any bonds of the town, or any evidence of the town's indebtedness, or 
any contract, right, agreement, lease, deed or other instrument or obligation assumed by the 
town;  

(3) Any administrative ordinances of the town not in conflict or inconsistent with the provisions of 
this Code;  

(4) Any right or franchise granted by any ordinance; 

10



 

 

    Page 4 

(5) Any ordinance dedicating, naming, establishing, locating, relocating, opening, paving, widening, 
repairing, vacating, etc., any street or public way in the town;  

(6) Any appropriation ordinance; 

(7) Any ordinance levying or imposing taxes; 

 (8) Any ordinance regarding the Bath-Brunswick Area Refuse Disposal District; 

(9) Any land use, zoning or rezoning ordinance or amendment to the zoning map; 

(10) Any ordinance establishing and prescribing the street grades of any street in the town;  

(11) Any ordinance providing for local improvements and assessing taxes therefor; 

(12) Any ordinance dedicating or accepting any plat or subdivision in the town; 

(13) Any ordinance establishing or setting salaries of town officers and employees; 

(14) Any temporary or special ordinances. 

All such ordinances are hereby recognized as continuing in full force and effect to the same extent as if 
set out at length herein. The ordinances are on file in the town clerk's office.  

Sec. 1‐9. ‐ Effect of amendments to Code.  

(a) Any and all additions and amendments to this Code, when passed in such form as to indicate the 
intention of the town council to make the same a part hereof, shall be deemed to be incorporated in 
this Code so that reference to the Code shall be understood and intended to include such additions 
and amendments.  

(b) All ordinances passed subsequent to this Code which amend, repeal or in any way affect this Code 
may be numbered in accordance with the numbering system of this Code and printed for inclusion 
therein. When subsequent ordinances repeal any chapter, article, division, section or subsection or 
any portion thereof, such repealed portions may be excluded from the Code by omission from 
reprinted pages.  

(c) Amendments to any of the provisions of this Code may be made by amending such provisions by 
specific reference to the section number of this Code in substantially the following language: "That 
section ;#rule; of the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Town of Brunswick, Maine, is hereby amended 
to read as follows: …." The new provisions shall then be set out in full as desired.  

(d) If a new section not heretofore existing in the Code is to be added, the following language may be 
used: "That the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Town of Brunswick, Maine, is hereby amended by 
adding a section to be numbered ;#rule;, which section reads as follows: …." The new section may 
then be set out in full as desired.  

(e) All sections, divisions, articles, chapters, or provisions desired to be repealed must be specifically 
repealed by section, division, article or chapter number, as the case may be.  

Sec. 1‐10. ‐ Supplementation of Code.  

(a) By contract or by town personnel, supplements to this Code shall be prepared and printed whenever 
authorized or directed by the town council. A supplement to the Code shall include all substantive 
permanent and general parts of ordinances passed by the town council or adopted by initiative and 
referendum during the period covered by the supplement and all changes made thereby in the Code, 
and shall also include all amendments to the Charter during the period. The pages of a supplement 
shall be so numbered that they will fit properly into the Code and will, where necessary, replace 
pages which have become obsolete or partially obsolete, and the new pages shall be so prepared 
that, when they have been inserted, the Code will be current through the date of the adoption of the 
latest ordinance included in the supplement.  

11



 

 

    Page 5 

(b) In preparing a supplement to this Code, all portions of the Code which have been repealed shall be 
excluded from the Code by the omission thereof from reprinted pages.  

(c) When preparing a supplement to this Code, the codifier, meaning the person, agency or organization 
authorized to prepare the supplement, may make formal, nonsubstantive changes in ordinances and 
parts of ordinances included in the supplement, insofar as it is necessary to do so to embody them 
into a unified code. For example, the codifier may:  

(1) Organize the ordinance material into appropriate subdivisions; 

(2) Provide appropriate catchlines, headings and titles for sections and other subdivisions of the 
Code printed in the supplement, and make changes in catchlines, headings and titles;  

(3) Assign appropriate numbers to sections and other subdivisions to be inserted in the Code and, 
where necessary to accommodate new material, change existing section or other subdivision 
numbers;  

(4) Change the words "this ordinance" or words of the same meaning to "this chapter," "this article," 
"this division," etc., as the case may be, or to "sections ;#rule; through ;#rule;." The inserted 
section numbers will indicate the sections of the Code which embody the substantive sections 
of the ordinance incorporated into the Code; and  

(5) Make other nonsubstantive changes necessary to preserve the original meaning of ordinance 
sections inserted into the Code; but in no case shall the codifier make any change in the 
meaning or effect of ordinance material included in the supplement or already embodied in the 
Code.  

Sec. 1‐11. ‐ Severability of parts of Code.  

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the city town council that the sections, paragraphs, 
sentences, clauses and phrases of this Code are severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section of this Code shall be declared unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, such 
unconstitutionality, invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Code.  

State Law reference— Similar provisions, 1 M.R.S.A. § 71(8).  

Sec. 1.12. ‐ Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines 

  Code provisions that impose a charge, fee or fine shall refer to a Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, adopted as an appendix to this Code.  The Master Schedule and any 
amendments shall be adopted as ordinances or ordinance amendments, following the provisions 
specified by this Code and the Charter.   

12



 

 

    Page 1 

Sec. 2-129. - Penalty.  

Any person, firm or corporation violating any provision of this division or any rule or regulation 
promulgated hereunder, upon adjudication thereof, shall be punished by a civil penalty of not 
less than one hundred dollars ($100.00) and not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) in 
accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinances, and shall be liable for costs and attorneys' fees.  

(Ord. of 8-9-06) 

Sec. 3-4. - Application for permit.  

(a) An application for a permit to install, maintain, or operate an alarm system must be filed 
with the police, or fire department, whichever is appropriate, on a form provided by the 
department including but not limited to the name, address, and telephone number of the 
installer of the system, the owner of the premises on which the system will be installed, and 
the lessee, if any, and a description of the system and the location in which it is to be 
installed.  

(b) The applicant shall pay fees in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. a non-refundable 
five dollar ($5.00) fee. 

(c) The applicant shall pay a non-refundable twenty-five dollar ($25.00) fee for each fire alarm, 
or combination fire/police system.  

Sec. 3-12. - False alarms.  

(a) Police: Any permit holder whose alarm system(s) causes the transmission of a false alarm 
to the emergency communications center three (3) times in any given calendar year shall pay a 
service fee of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for each subsequent false alarm in accordance with 
the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code 
of Ordinances..  

(b) Fire: Any permit holder whose alarm system(s) causes the transmission of a false alarm 
to the emergency communications center two (2) times, in any given calendar year, shall pay a 
service fee of one hundred dollars ($100.00) for each subsequent false alarm in accordance with 
the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code 
of Ordinances..  

(c) Following the 3rd police, 2nd fire alarms, all subsequent false alarms, in any calendar year, 
the appropriate department shall notify the permit holder of the occurrence(s) of a false 
alarm, and shall inform the holder of the permit of the fee provisions of this section.  

Sec. 3-15. - Penalty.  

13



 

 

    Page 2 

Any violation of this chapter shall be punishable by a civil penalty of not more than one hundred 
dollars ($100.00) for the first and second violations, and not more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00) for the third and subsequent violations. in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. 
 
Sec. 4-31. - Notice and reclamation.  

The animal control officer shall immediately notify the owner by telephone or by certified mail 
that the dog has been impounded, and that owner may reclaim it by licensing the dog if it is 
unlicensed, and by paying to the town the following fees in accordance with the Master Schedule 
of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.:  

(1) Cost of impounding the dog shall be twenty five dollars ($25.00), except upon the second 
impoundment of the same dog, the fee shall be fifty dollars ($50.00), and upon the third and all 
subsequent impoundments of the same dog, the fee shall be one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(2) Cost of keeping the dog shall be five dollars ($5.00) per day. 

(3) Cost of notice by mail or by posting shall be three dollars ($3.00). 

(Ord. of 8-22-77, § 107; Emergency/Regular Ord. of 4-22-97; Ord. of 11-01-06(1) 

Sec. 4-38. - Penalties.  

Any person who is found to have violated any provision of this chapter shall pay a civil penalty 
of not more then twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for the first offense; not more than two hundred 
dollars ($200.00) for the second offense; and not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for 
the third and subsequent offenses. in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  Each day of 
violation shall constitute a separate violation. All civil penalties shall be paid to town. In addition 
to the civil penalties, the person violating this article shall pay the town's attorney's fees for the 
prosecution of the action. Finally the town may seek appropriate legal and equitable relief in a 
court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this article.  

(Ord. of 8-22-77, § 111(1)—(6); Emergency/Regular Ord. of 4-22-97) 

Sec. 4-69. - Licensing requirements.  

A person who keeps domesticated chickens shall obtain a license for a fee of ten dollars ($10.00) 
in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to 
this Municipal Code of Ordinances.. The license shall expire annually on the last day of April. 
The license shall be issued by the town clerk after favorable inspection by the Brunswick Animal 
Control Officer or designee. The ten dollar ($10.00) fee is nonrefundable if the license is not 
approved. There will be a late fee assessed to licenses that have expired, in the amount of ten 
dollars ($10.00) in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 

14



 

 

    Page 3 

Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  . The fine will double after the license has 
been expired for more than thirty (30) days.  

(Ord. of 10-19-09, § VII) 

Sec. 4-97. - Licensing requirements.  

A person who keeps domesticated farm animals shall obtain an initial license for a fee of one 
hundred dollars ($100.00) in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees 
and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  . The license shall expire 
annually on the last day of April. Renewal licenses and late fees on licenses that have expired 
will be in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix 
A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesat a fee of fifty dollars ($50.00). The license shall be 
issued by the town clerk after favorable inspection by the town animal control officer or 
designee. The license fee is nonrefundable if the license is not approved. There will be a late fee 
assessed to licenses that have expired, in the amount of twenty five dollars ($25.00). The late 
feefine will double after the license has been expired for more than thirty (30) days.  

(Ord. of. 10-17-11) 

Sec. 4-99. - Penalty.  

In addition to any other enforcement action which the town may take, violation of any provision 
of this article shall be a civil violation and a fine not exceeding one hundred dollars ($100.00) 
may be imposed in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  . Each day that a violation continues will be 
treated as a separate offense.  

(Ord. of. 10-17-11) 

Sec. 5-52. - Building permit fees shall be assessed in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances..  

(1) The minimum fee for all building permits shall be forty-five dollars ($45.00). 

(2) For each square foot of floor area, excluding basements, for one- and two-family 
dwellings including modular homes, and accessory structures thirty-five cents ($0.35) per square 
foot.  

(3) For each square foot of floor area of a new or used mobile home to be located on a 
single-privately owned lot, twenty cents ($0.20) per square foot.  

(4) For any installation of a used mobile home within a legally existing mobile home park, 
one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

15



 

 

    Page 4 

(5) For any unattached, unenclosed and unheated structure with at least two (2) open-air 
walls such as, but not limited to, pole barns, car ports, decks, porches, or lumber racks; twenty 
cents ($0.20) per square foot of the roof or floor area of the structure.  

(6) All other use groups set forth in Chapter 3 of the MUBEC, forty cents ($0.40) per square 
foot.  

(7) Alterations and/or renovations to one- and two-family dwellings (including modular and 
mobile homes) and unusual structures not conducive to square footage measurements: six dollars 
($6.00) per one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) of estimated construction value.  

(8) Alterations and/or renovations to all other use groups set forth in Article 3 of the 
MUBEC: nine dollars ($9.00) per one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) of estimated construction 
value.  

(9) Foundation only, forty cents ($0.40) per square foot. Square footage will be figured on 
the exterior of the building for new construction and the affected area within the building for 
alterations.  

(10) Demolition permit fees: fifty dollars ($50.00) per structure. 

Sign fees:  

1—10 square feet .....$10.00  

11—25 square feet .....$15.00  

26—50 square feet .....$25.00  

51—100 square feet .....$45.00  

Over 100 square feet .....$45.00  

Plus, per square foot .....$0.50  

Fee computations are to be rounded to the nearest dollar.  

(11)  Double fee. Any person who shall commence any work for which a permit is required by 
this code without first having obtained a permit therefore, shall, if subsequently permitted to 
obtain a permit, pay double the permit fee fixed by this section for such work, provided, 
however, that this provision shall not apply to emergency work when it shall be proved to the 
satisfaction of the administrative authority that such work was urgently necessary and that it was 
not practical to obtain a permit before the commencement of the work. In all cases, a permit must 
be obtained as soon as practical to do so. If there is an unreasonable delay in obtaining such 
permit, a double fee as herein provided shall be charged.  

16



 

 

    Page 5 

(12) A re-inspection fee of fifty dollars ($50.00) in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances, will be 
charged for each subsequent inspection determined by the codes official to be necessary because 
the building or site being inspected has not been completed or is not eligible for a certificate of 
occupancy.  

(13) Add the following sentence to the end of the second paragraph of 3109.2 of the MUBEC: 

All such pools shall remain empty until the Code Enforcement Officer has inspected the 
property and determines that the pool enclosure requirements of Section 3109 of the 
2003 International Building Code have been met.  

(Ord. of 1-4-89, § 3; Ord. of 12-16-91; Ord. of 7-7-03; Ord. of 7-21-08(1); Ord. of 9-2-08(1); 
Ord. of 3-15-10; Ord. of 4-26-10; Ord. of 10-18-10; Ord. of 3-19-12)  

Sec. 5-77. - Amendments adopted.  

The following amendments to the code adopted in section 5-76 are hereby adopted:  

(1) Chapter 10, Enforcement, Fees, Penalties is added to read as follows:  

"ARTICLE 1000 - Enforcement  

"1000-1. Enforcement. The Electrical Inspector shall enforce this code.  

"1000-2. Scope. This code applies to (a) original installations of electrical systems and 
to (b) alterations of or additions to existing electrical systems in the Town of 
Brunswick.  

"1000-3. Permit. Any person who desires to install original electrical systems or to alter 
or add to existing electrical systems as provided in this code must first obtain a 
permit. Authorized persons include (A) property owner doing said work or (B) 
State of Maine licensed electrician.  

"1000-4. Inspections. The electrical inspector shall inspect all wiring at appropriate 
times during its installation to see that it is in compliance with this code.  

"The electrical inspector may enter and examine any premises at any reasonable 
time in the discharge of his official duties.  

"The electrical contractor or property owner shall notify the electrical inspector 
forty-eight (48) hours before an electrical installation is ready for inspection. 
Electrical installations, alterations, or additions for which a permit is required may 
not be used until after inspection and approval by the electrical inspector.  

"1000-5. Schedule of fees. The codes enforcement officer shall collect electrical inspection fees 
from applicants for permits under article 1000-3, as follows: in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

"A. General: 

17



 

 

    Page 6 

1. Minimum fee shall be .....$45.00  

2. Reinspection for code violation .....30.00  

3. All fees are to be rounded to the nearest dollar. 

"B. Original Installations: 

"1. Residential: For one-family or two-family dwellings, six cents ($0.06) per 
square foot of floor area.  

"2. All use groups listed in section 301.1 of the BOCA National Building 
Code, 1990, except one- and two-family dwellings, nine cents ($0.09) per 
square foot.  

"3. All use groups listed in section 310 of the BOCA National Building Code, 
1990, from 1 to 10 fixtures or outlets .....$6.00  

11—20 fixtures or outlets .....9.00  

21—31 fixtures or outlets .....12.00  

Over 30 fixtures or outlets .....25.00.  

"C. Additions and Alterations: 

"1. Service and meter or replacement .....$45.00  

Each additional meter on same service .....5.00  

"2. Installations for appliances, water heaters, dryer, disposal, etc. .....5.00  

"3. Swimming pools .....45.00  

Plus each appliance .....3.00  

"4. One electrical sign or lighting standard .....5.00  

Plus each additional sign or standard .....1.00  

"5. Hazardous location as defined in Chapter 5 of the National Electrical Code 
1990 Edition .....10.00  

Plus an addition for each unit changed or added (pumps, fixtures, etc.) .....5.00  

"6. From 1 to 20 fixtures or outlets .....45.00  

Over 20 fixtures or outlets, the fee shall be computed on a square foot basis set forth under 
article 1000-5(B) based upon the area of the addition or alteration.  

"1000-6. Classification of occupancies. For purpose of establishing fees for electrical 
permits, classification of occupancies of building structures, or portions thereof, as 
set forth in article 3 of BOCA National Building Code, 1990 Edition, shall be 
observed.  

"1000-7. Double fee provisions. Any person who begins any work for which a permit is 
required without first having obtained it shall pay double the permit fee for the work. 

18



 

 

    Page 7 

This does not apply to emergency work where in the opinion of the electrical inspector 
it was not practical to obtain a permit before beginning the work. In emergency cases a 
permit must be obtained as soon as it is practical to do so, and if there is an 
unreasonable delay in obtaining the permit, the applicant shall pay a double fee.  

"1000-8. Penalties. A person who violates any of the provisions of this code shall be punished by 
a fine of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00) in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.. If this 
code is violated by a partnership or corporation, the members of the partnership or the officers of 
the corporation who participated in or authorized the action resulting in the violation will also be 
subject to the punishment provided. Each day the violation continues after a written notice is 
served on the responsible person shall be deemed to be a separate offense."  

(Ord. of 1-19-88; Ord. of 12-16-91; Ord. of 4-18-95; Ord. of 3-15-10) 

Sec. 5-78. - Internal plumbing.  

Nine dollars ($9.00) per fixture with a minimum permit of thirty-six dollars ($36.00). Permit 
fees will be charged in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. of 3-15-10) 

Sec. 5-79. - Subsurface wastewater disposal.  

Fees shall be a base fee of one hundred fifty (150) percent of the state minimum fees as 
listed in Table 110.2 of the Maine Subsurface Waste Water Disposal Rules in accordance with 
the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code 
of Ordinances..  

(Ord. of 3-15-10) 

Sec. 7-27. - Amendments to NFPA 1, Uniform Fire Code, 2006 Edition.  

The following amendments to NFPA 1, Uniform Fire Code, 2006 Edition adopted in Section 
7-26 are hereby adopted:  

(1) The amendments set forth by the Maine Department of Public Safety, Office of the 
Maine State Fire Marshall by Chapter 3 of its Rules entitled "Fire Prevention Code" as 
amended on September 3, 2007, a copy of which is on file in the town clerk's office.  

(2) Section 1.1.2 shall read as follows:  

"1.1.2 Title: These regulations as set forth herein shall be known as the Fire Prevention 
Code of the Town of Brunswick and are hereby referred to as 'this code.' "  

(3) Section 1.6 shall read as follows:  

19



 

 

    Page 8 

"1.6 Enforcement: The fire chief or the chief of the fire prevention bureau, or his duly 
authorized representative has the authority to enforce the provisions of the fire 
prevention code as herein set forth. The designated enforcement officer of this code 
is herein referred to as the 'code official.' "  

(4) Section 1.12.2.5 is added reading as follows:  

"1.12.2.5. Double fees: Any person who shall commence any work for which a permit is 
required by this code without first having obtained a permit therefor, shall, if 
subsequently permitted to obtain a permit, pay double the designated permit fee for 
such work; provided, however, that this provision shall not apply to emergency 
work when it shall be proved to the satisfaction of the code official that such work 
was urgently necessary and that it was not practical to obtain a permit therefor 
before the commencement of the work. In all cases a permit must be obtained as 
soon as it is practical to do so, and if there is an unreasonable delay in obtaining 
such permit, the double fee as herein provided shall be charged."  

(5) Section 1.10.9.4 is added reading as follows:  

"1.10.9.4.1 Appeals: A person aggrieved by a decision of the code official may appeal 
to the codes appeal board and demand a hearing, as provided in this code. He must 
file a notice of appeal with the code enforcement officer. The notice must cite the 
decision appealed from, identify the property involved, list the names of abutting 
owners and of owners of property directly across a public way and state the specific 
grounds for the appeal. The appellant shall pay the codes enforcement officer a 
filing fee to cover the cost of advertising the appeal as required by section 
1.10.9.4.3."  

"1.10.9.4.2 Filing date recorded: The codes enforcement officer shall stamp the filing 
date on the notice of appeal, give a copy to the appellant and send a copy to the 
codes appeal board."  

"1.10.9.4.3 Appeal advertised: On receipt of the notice of appeal, the codes appeal 
board shall determine a hearing date and have the notice of appeal and the time and 
the place of the hearing published in a newspaper having general circulation in the 
town at least seven (7) days before the day of the hearing."  

"1.10.9.4.4 Abutters notified: The codes enforcement officer shall mail a copy of the 
notice of appeal and the time and place of hearing to property owners described in 
section 1.10.9.4.1 at least six (6) days prior to the day of hearing at their last known 
places of address as shown on the tax records. Failure of the codes enforcement 
officer to send, or a property owner to receive a copy of the notice does not 
invalidate the hearing."  

"1.10.9.4.5 Hearing procedure: At the hearing, the appellant's side of the case must be 
heard first. When a witness has completed his direct testimony, he may be 
examined directly by members of the board, and through the chairman by other 
interested persons. Attorneys representing the parties may examine and cross-
examine witnesses directly. The secretary of the board shall keep the minutes of the 
proceedings including the date of the hearing, the names and addresses of all 
witnesses and attorneys, a brief summary of the testimony and the reasons for it. 

20



 

 

    Page 9 

The secretary shall file a copy of the decision with the code official as soon as it is 
handed down by the board. On receipt of the decision, the code official shall issue 
or withhold a permit according to its terms."  

"1.10.9.4.6 Variances: The codes appeal board may grant a reasonable variance from 
the requirements of this code. The appellant must prove the following:  

"(1) Financial hardship. That the application of this code is causing or would cause 
unusual difficulty or substantial financial hardship because of extraordinary 
conditions peculiar to his premises, or to a proposed building, which are not 
reasonably remediable.  

"(2) No adverse affect. That the relief sought would not adversely affect other 
property or the health, safety or general welfare of the public.  

"(3) Purpose upheld. That the relief sought would not tend to defeat the purpose of 
this code as set forth in article 1, section F-100.2.  

"The codes appeal board may affirm, modify or deny determinations under or 
interpretations of this code made by the code official in the performance of his duties."  

"1.10.9.4.7 Special conditions: In granting a variance, the codes appeal board may 
require that certain special conditions be fulfilled. The failure to comply with those 
conditions invalidates the permit granted."  

"1.10.9.4.8 Limitation on subsequent appeals: If the codes appeal board denies an 
appeal with respect to certain buildings or premises, a second appeal of a similar 
nature may not be brought before the board within one (1) year."  

"1.10.9.4.9 Appeal to superior court: A person aggrieved by a decision of the codes 
appeal board may appeal to the superior court within thirty (30) days after the 
decision. The appeal is governed by rule 80-B of the Maine Rules of Civil 
Procedure."  

(6) Section 1.16.1.2 is added reading as follows:  

"1.16.1.2 Penalties: A person who violates any provisions of this code shall be punished 
by a fine of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00) in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinances. . If this code is violated by a partnership or 
corporation, the members of the partnership or the officers of the corporation who 
participated in or authorized the action resulting in the violation will also be subject 
to the punishment provided. Each day that the violation continues after a service of 
notice as provided for in this code shall be deemed a separate offense."  

(7) Section 18.2.2.1.1 is added reading as follows:  

"18.2.2.1.1. Key boxes."  

"18.2.2.1.1.1. General: The code official may require a key box to be installed in an 
accessible location where immediate access is necessary to verify the existence of a 
fire or other emergency in a building equipped with, or required to be equipped 
with, fire detection or fire suppression systems or equipment.  

21



 

 

    Page 10 

"18.2.2.1.1.2 Type, contents, installation: The key box shall be of a type approved by 
the code official; shall contain keys to gain access as required by the code official; 
and shall be installed in a manner approved by the code official.  

"18.2.2.1.1.3. Alarms: At the request of the owner or lessee, the code official shall 
permit him to install a key box tamper switch connected to the building's fire alarm 
system."  

(8) Section 1.12.2.1.2 is added reading as follows:  

"1.12.2.1.1 Design criteria: All fire protection systems shall be designed and installed in 
accordance with the requirements of this code, the building code and applicable 
NFPA Standards listed in Appendix A."  

(9) Section 1.12.2.5 is added reading as follows:  

"1.12.2.5 Fees: There shall be a ten dollar ($10.00) permit fee in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinances shall be charged  for each new installation of a fire 
protection system or the enlargement or extension of an existing system."  

(10) Section 75 is added to read as follows:  

"Section 75. Installation of oil-burning equipment.  

"75.1 General: The provisions of Installation of Oil Burning Equipment, 2006 Edition, 
NFPA 31, as published by the National Fire Protection Association, are hereby 
incorporated into this code as section 75."  

"75.2 Permit required: A permit shall be required for the installation of oil burning 
equipment and oil storage tanks."  

"75.3 Fees: There shall be a ten-dollar ($10.00) permit fee for each unit installed shall 
be charged in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.."  

(11) Section 76 is added reading as follows:  

"Section 76. Chimneys, fireplaces, vents and solid fuel burning appliances.  

"76.1 General. The provisions of NFPA 211, Chimneys, Fireplaces, Vents and Solid 
Fuel Burning Equipment, 1988 Edition, as published by the National Fire 
Protection Association, are hereby incorporated into this code as article 36.  

"76.2 Permit required: A permit shall be required for the installation of a solid fuel 
burning device.  

"76.3 Fees: There shall be a ten-dollar ($10.00) permit fee for each unit installed shall 
be charged in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.."  

(Ord. of 2-1-88; Ord. of 12-5-88, § 2; Ord. of 12-16-91; Ord. of 10-6-08) 

Sec. 8-34. - Penalty.  

22



 

 

    Page 11 

A person who violates this article, or who fails to comply with any order of any public 
official in the administration or enforcement of this article shall be subject to a fine of not more 
than one hundred dollars ($100.00) in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances, and shall be subject 
to injunctive action as provided in 30 M.R.S.A.§ 2151, 4., E.  

(Ord. of 8-17-81, § 1304) 

Sec. 9-41. - Fees.  

The following fFees shall be charged for emergency medical services provided by the town 
in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to 
this Municipal Code of Ordinances.:  

Non-Transport (billable) $160 per response 

ALS Assist $265 per response 

Basic Life Support (BLS) $380 per response 

Advance Life Support (ALS) $530 per response 

Advance Life Support 2 (ALS2) $690 per response 

Loaded Mile $11 per mile 

  

With the exception of ALS assists, all invoices for services rendered by the town's emergency 
medical services unit shall be billed to the patient or the patient's insurer. ALS assists shall be 
billed to the emergency medical services provider requesting the assistance.  

(Ord. of 6-18-07; Ord. of 6-1-09) 

Sec. 10-1. - Police officers, firemen in attendance at dance halls and at sports events.  

(a) Proprietors, managers, or any person or group of persons in charge of public dances, boxing 
matches or wrestling matches shall, at their own expense, have in attendance thereat 
adequate police officers and firemen. Such officers and firemen shall represent the police 
and fire departments in official capacity and shall not in any way represent the party or 
parties in charge of such public dance, boxing match or wrestling match, except that this 
regulation shall not apply to fraternal, church, social or other charitable organizations. There 
is a three-hour minimum cost (at the current hourly rate).  

23



 

 

    Page 12 

(b) Whoever violates any provisions of (a) above shall be punished by a fine not less than one 
hundred dollars ($100.00) nor more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) for each 
offense in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances..  

(Bylaws of 1942; Mo. of 6-1-92) 

Sec. 10-26. - Required; fees.  

(a) A person or organization may not engage in any of the businesses or occupations listed 
below without first obtaining a license from the town according to the provisions stated 
below, with fees paid in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees 
and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.. In addition, the applicant is 
responsible for compliance with all pertinent town ordinances and state laws. Except as 
otherwise stated, the license shall expire on June 30, annually.  

(b) The fees. in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances, indicated below include an twenty-five 
dollar ($25.00) application fee which is nonrefundable if the license in not approved. Unless 
otherwise designated, the initial license shall be assessed on a semi-annual basis . There will 
be a late fee assessed to licenses that have expired in the amount of twenty-five dollars 
($25.00) for licenses with fees higher than fifty dollars ($50.00), and in the amount of ten 
dollars ($10.00) for licenses with fees fifty dollars ($50.00) or less. The fine will double 
after the license has been expired for more than thirty (30) days.  

(1) Bowling alleys, billiards and other types of games. The owner or operator of a bowling 
alley, billiard or pool parlor, or shooting gallery shall obtain a license for a fee of twenty 
dollars ($20.00) per lane or table.  

(2) Carnivals and circuses. The owner or operator of a carnival or circus shall obtain a 
license for a fee of one hundred fifty dollars ($150.00) per day. If the carnival or circus 
is sponsored by a charitable corporation to aid in obtaining funds to carry out its 
purposes, the town shall make a refund of all but twenty-five dollars ($25.00)a portion 
of the daily fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances upon receipt of an affidavit 
from the treasurer of the corporation indicating the gross receipts of the corporation 
from the operation of the carnival or circus.  

(3) Peddlers. A person who seeks to peddle merchandise at retail shall obtain a license for a 
fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) per 
week, fifty dollars ($50.00) for up to three (3) months, seventy-five dollars ($75.00) for 
up to six (6) months, and one hundred dollars (100.00) for up to twelve (12) months. A 
peddler who has no permanent business location within the state must obtain a seller's 
permit from the state before this license is granted. A person need not obtain a license to 
sell merchandise by sample, list, or catalog for future delivery (but shall register this 
activity with the Brunswick Police and the Brunswick Chamber of Commerce); farm, 

24



 

 

    Page 13 

dairy, orchard, fish, or forest products of their own production on their own property; or 
newspapers or religious literature.  

(4) Pawnbrokers. A person who wishes to lend money on merchandise for a set period of 
time shall obtain a pawnbroker's license for a fee in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinancesof seventy-five dollars ($75.00).  

(5) Pinball machines and other amusement devices. A person shall obtain a license to 
operate one (1) or more pinball machines, electronic games, or other amusement 
devices at a particular location for a fee of thirty-five dollars ($35.00) for each machine.  

a. Owner identified. An applicant for a license under this subsection shall provide the 
town council with the name and address of the owner of the machines.  

b. Posting of license. The license required shall be posted securely and conspicuously 
on the premises for which it is granted and shall state the number of machines 
which are licensed. The licensee may substitute machines during the license year 
without additional charge.  

c. Exception. This subsection does not apply to machines or devices which are owned 
or operated by a charitable corporation where the person in possession of the 
machine derives no pecuniary benefit from its presence or operation on his 
premises; but the corporation shall furnish the council with the name and address of 
the owner of any such machines.  

(6) Sellers of prepared food on public way. The town council may, upon finding that the 
public convenience so requires and that the applicant is a reputable person, authorize the 
issuance of a license to sell prepared food on a public way.  

a. The fee for a license for sellers of prepared food on a public way shall be paida 
twenty-five dollar ($25.00) application feein accordance with the Master Schedule 
of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. The fee for a license for sellers of prepared food on a public way 
located at the Mall on Maine Street shall be fifteen hundred dollars ($1,500.00); 
this license cannot be prorated. The fee for licenses for sellers of prepared food on a 
public way at the Farmer's Market located at the mall on Maine Street shall be three 
thousand dollars ($3,000.00) (for Tuesdays and Fridays). All fees for licenses for 
sellers of prepared food on a public way shall be payable annually, in advance, and 
the license shall expire on the date of the first council meeting in March. 
Applications will be considered by the town council at the first council meeting in 
March and applications must be filed with the town clerk seven (7) days prior to 
this meeting. Additional applications may be filed whenever less than the 
maximum number of licenses have been issued and are in effect.  

b. The town council may authorize the issuance of a license for a single day or single 
event on a public way in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.. The 
fee for a single day license shall be twenty-five dollars ($25.00) and for a single 
event license shall be fifty dollars ($50.00) up to three (3) days. The provisions of 
subsection c.5. below shall not apply to single day or single event licenses.  

25



 

 

    Page 14 

c. In determining whether or not to issue a license, the council shall consider the 
following: 

1. The number and proximity of licenses previously granted for the general area 
sought to be served by the applicant.  

2. The nature, size, appearance and condition of the vehicle or food service 
device to be used by the applicant. A plan or picture shall be provided.  

3. The impact of the proposed use, including the location of chairs, tables, and 
service areas on public travel and the adjacent neighborhood. A plan for the 
use of the public way shall be provided.  

4. The character and ability of the applicant. 

5. Licenses to sell prepared food on the town mall shall be approved for no more 
than four (4) vendors annually, not including the Brunswick Farmers' Market.  

d. Each license shall contain the following conditions: 

1. Operations of the licenses shall be confined to those hours and parts of public 
ways designated in the license. Because of the public way location, the town 
council may choose to further restrict the hours of operation. No equipment 
may remain on the mall or public way when the vendor is not open for 
business, except as approved by the director of parks and recreation. Such 
approval shall allow equipment to remain on the mall overnight when the 
following day's activity is expected to make vendor arrival unduly difficult. 
Such approvals shall not exceed six (6) times per year.  

2. The licensee shall keep and maintain the area adjacent to its activities free of 
litter and debris.  

3. The licensee shall indemnify the town against and hold the town harmless from 
any expense or liability in any way arising out of or connected to activity under 
the license.  

e. The council may, in its discretion, as a further condition of the license, require the 
licensee to provide proof of insurance in appropriate amounts with respect to the 
risks referred to in d.3. above, and impose such conditions, not inconsistent with 
this article, as it deems reasonable and necessary. Current limits of insurance are as 
follows: General liability, including product coverage, with a single aggregate limit 
of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000.00) for bodily injury, and a one 
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) limit for property damage.  

f. Any license issued hereunder may be revoked for reasonable cause at any time by 
the council.  

g. Each mall vendor shall also obtain a victualer's license. 

(7) Theater. A person shall obtain a license to operate an indoor or drive-in theater for a fee 
in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of one hundred fifty dollars 
($150.00).  

26



 

 

    Page 15 

(8) Victualers/innkeeper. A person shall obtain an annual victualer's (food service 
establishment) or innkeeper's license for a fee according to the fee schedule listed 
below. This license shall expire on the last day of May, annually. A license may be 
issued by the town clerk, pending favorable inspection by the Brunswick Health Officer 
and providing all arrearage for taxes, fees, or any other obligations to the town are met. 
This license shall be issued to a person or corporation preparing and selling unpackaged 
food to persons within the town limits of Brunswick.  

The initial victualer/innkeeper's license may be issued on a quarterly basis with an 
expiration date of May 31st of each year.  

A one- to three-day temporary victualer's license may be issued by the town clerk for a 
festival or a holiday celebration, pending favorable inspection by the Brunswick Health 
Officer or a valid license issued by the State of Maine Department of Human Service or 
the Department of Agriculture. Verification of a state license must be presented to the 
town clerk at the time of application. The Brunswick Health Officer may accept a 
license issued by the state health department of another state, if he so decides it is 
appropriate.  

Such licenses include, but are not limited to, the following types of businesses:  

Bakery  

Bed & breakfast lodging establishment  

Commercial caterer  

Delicatessen  

Fish market (re: Prepared seafood)  

Home caterer  

Hotel  

Ice cream shop  

Inn  

Lounge with limited food menu  

Mobile-food unit  

Motel  

Neighborhood grocery  

Restaurant  

Take-out food establishment (Coffee, popcorn, hotdogs, Mall vendors, ice cream, 
mobile carts, prepared seafood vendor, etc.)  

27



 

 

    Page 16 

FSE is defined as food service establishment.  

A Brunswick Food Service License is not needed for schools, church kitchens including 
bean suppers and holiday bazaars, fund raisers for youth organizations (hockey, soccer, 
swimming, Girl or Boy Scouts, football, Youth Orchestra, Band Boosters, etc.).  

Fees in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  

Fee Schedule:  

FSE with malt, vinous, and spirituous liquor will be two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00).  

FSE with malt and vinous will be two hundred dollars ($200.00).  

FSE with malt or vinous will be one hundred seventy-five dollars ($175.00)  

FSE with no alcohol—Sit-down will be one hundred dollars ($100.00)  

FSE with mobile carts, take-out coffee, popcorn, deli, pizza, bakeries, ice-cream, catering, B 
& B's, (includes room inspection also), etc will be seventy-five dollars ($75.00)  

FSE temporary 1 to 3 days (festival, holiday celebration, parade) will be twenty-five dollars 
($25.00).  

Innkeeper (1—15 rooms) includes complementary food will be one hundred dollars 
($100.00)  

Innkeeper (over 15 rooms) includes complementary food will be one hundred seventy-five 
dollars ($175.00)  

(9) Secondhand dealer. A person shall obtain a license to engage in the business of selling 
secondhand goods or antiques for a fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances.of seventy-five dollars ($75.00).  

(10) Bazaar or flea market. A person shall obtain a license to operate a bazaar or flea market, 
so-called, consisting of two (2) or more vendors for a fee in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. of fifty dollars ($50.00). The license may cover a period of one (1) to three 
(3) days. The licensee shall maintain a register open to inspection by the chief of police 
or his representative of the name and address of each vendor in the market. Charitable 
organizations located in Brunswick (i.e. Christmas bazaars or church fairs, etc.) need 
not obtain a license.  

Any person or organization may obtain an annual license to operate a bazaar or flea 
market for a fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees 
and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of two hundred twenty-
five dollars ($225.00).  

28



 

 

    Page 17 

(11) Tattooing establishment. A person shall obtain a license to engage in the business of 
applying tattoos to other persons for a fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. 
of seventy-five dollars ($75.00). Such license will not be approved until the premises 
where the tattooing is to take place have passed inspection by the town's health officer.  

(12) Going out of business. A person shall obtain a license to hold a "going out of business 
sale" for a fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances,of fifty dollars ($50.00) as 
authorized by 30A, M.R.S.A., § 3781 et seq. The license is good for sixty (60) days and 
may be extended for an additional sixty (60) days. The application shall be 
accompanied by a list of inventory of items to be included in the sale.  

After termination of the sale, the person or persons to whom the license was granted 
shall not continue the business under the same or a different name, at the sale location 
or elsewhere in the same municipality, contrary to the designation of such sale.  

This license includes businesses advertising "closing out sale," "entire stock must go," 
"going out of business sale," "must sell to the bare walls," or other such designation 
which states directly or by implication the intent of such person or persons to dispose of 
the entire stock of business goods.  

(13) Junkyards, automobile graveyards and automobile recycling businesses.  

a. Purpose. The purpose of this subsection is to supplement the provisions of Title 30-
A, Sections 3751 through 3760 as they may be amended from time to time, and to 
exercise the municipality's home rule and police power in relation to accumulations 
of vehicles and junk. If any provision of this subsection is inconsistent with any of 
the provisions in Title 30-A Sections 3751 through 3760, the stricter provisions 
shall apply.  

b. Authority. This section is authorized by Title 30-A, Section 3001 and 3755. 

c. Definitions. 

1. Automobile graveyard means a yard, field or other area used to store three (3) 
or more unserviceable, discarded, worn-out or junk motor vehicles and any 
related motor vehicles regardless of whether or not they are unserviceable, 
discarded, worn-out or junk.  

2. Junkyard means a yard, field, or other area used to store: 

i. Discarded, worn-out or junk plumbing, heating supplies, household 
appliances or furniture; 

ii. Discarded and scrap or junk and junk lumber; 

iii. Old or scrap copper, brass, rope, rags, batteries, paper trash, rubber debris, 
waste and all scrap iron, steel and other scrap ferrous or non- ferrous 
metal;  

iv. Garbage dumps, waste dumps and sanitary fills; 

29



 

 

    Page 18 

v. Any related items regardless of whether or not they meet the definitions in 
i. through iv. above;  

vi. Nothing in this subsection shall be interpreted to supersede the 
requirements of Chapter 13, Solid Waste, in the Municipal Code of 
Ordinances or to permit activities prohibited by that chapter.  

3. Automobile recycling business means the dismantling of motor vehicles for the 
purpose of reselling the component parts of the vehicles or rebuilding or 
repairing salvage vehicles for the purpose of resale or for selling the basic 
materials in the salvaged vehicles.  

4. Highway means any public way or other way on which the public is permitted 
general access.  

5. Person means any natural person, corporation, partnership or association. 

6. Subsection means Municipal Code of Ordinances, Chapter 10, Licenses and 
Business Regulations, Article 2 Licenses Generally, section 10-26(13) 
Junkyard/Automobile graveyards.  

d. Establishment or maintenance of automobile graveyards, junkyards or automobile 
recycling businesses.  

1. All automobile graveyards, junkyards, or automobile recycling businesses are 
regulated by this subsection regardless of their distance from a highway. No 
person may establish, operate or maintain an automobile graveyard, junkyard, 
or automobile recycling business in violation of this subsection or without first 
obtaining a non-transferable permit from the municipal officers of the Town of 
Brunswick. The permit expires October 1st of each year.  

2. The fee for aAn automobile graveyard or junkyard located more than one 
hundred (100) feet from a highway is charged a permit fee,fifty dollars 
($50.00), plus an twenty-five dollar ($25.00) application fee and the cost of 
posting and publishing the required notices. The fee for aAn automobile 
graveyard or junkyard located within one hundred (100) feet of any highway is 
charged a permit fee two hundred dollars ($200.00), plus the cost of posting or 
publishing the required notices. The fee for aA recycling business is charged a 
permit fee, is two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00), plus an annual inspection fee 
of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) for a five-year permit, plus the cost of posting 
and publishing the required notices.  Fees are charged in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinances.  

3. The person seeking a permit shall complete an application on a form provided 
by the town. The application shall include:  

i. The name and address (mailing and physical) of the person establishing, 
operating or maintaining the activity for which a permit is sought, and the 
address (mailing and physical) of the activity.  

30



 

 

    Page 19 

ii. Whether the activity sought is an automobile graveyard, junkyard, or 
automobile recycling business.  

iii. A sketch plan drawn on a scale not to exceed one (1) inch equals one 
hundred (100) feet showing the boundary lines of the property and any 
residences or wells within the boundaries of the site plan or within one 
hundred (100) feet of the site's boundaries.  

iv. A statement of the standards within this subsection and state law with 
space for the person to make a brief statement of compliance with the 
standards.  

v. Such other information as the municipal officers or their designee requires 
to enable the municipal officers to make an informal decision on the 
permit request.  

e. Standards. No permit shall be issued for an automobile graveyard, junkyard, or 
automobile recycling business unless the municipal officers of the Town of 
Brunswick find the following standards have been met:  

1. The automobile graveyard, junkyard, or recycling business must be enclosed 
by a visual screen at least six (6) feet high and built in accordance with rules 
adopted by the Maine Department of Transportation in pursuant to Title 30-A, 
Section 3759.  

2. No vehicle, machine or equipment with an intact engine or motor may be 
stored within one hundred (100) feet of any body of water or freshwater or 
coastal wet land in an automobile graveyard, junkyard or automobile recycling 
business permitted for the first time after the effective date of this subsection.  

3. No vehicle, machine or equipment may be dismantled or stored within five 
hundred (500) feet of a school, church, cemetery, or public playground or park 
in an automobile graveyard, junkyard or automobile recycling business 
permitted for the first time after the effective date of this subsection.  

4. No vehicle, machine or equipment may be dismantled or stored over a sand 
and gravel aquifer or aquifer recharge area in an automobile graveyard, 
junkyard or automobile recycling business permitted for the first time after the 
effective date of this subsection.  

5. No vehicle, machine or equipment containing fluids may be dismantled or 
stored within the 100-year floodplain in an automobile graveyard, junkyard or 
automobile recycling business permitted for the first time after the effective 
date of this subsection.  

6. No vehicle, machine or equipment may be dismantled or stored in an 
automobile graveyard, junkyard or automobile recycling business permitted for 
the first time after the effective date of this subsection within one hundred 
(100) feet of a well that serves as a public or private water supply, excluding a 
private well which serves only the automobile graveyard, junkyard or 
automobile recycling business or the owner or operators abutting residence.  

31



 

 

    Page 20 

7. The yard, field or other area used for the automobile graveyard, junkyard, or 
automobile recycling business is owned by fee title without any encumbrances. 
In the alternative, the person may present notarized, written permission for the 
establishment, operation or maintenance of the automobile graveyard, junkyard 
or recycling business from the person owning the encumbrances.  

8. No vehicle, machine, equipment or junkyard junk may be located, stored or 
dismantled closer than twenty (20) feet from any lot line unless the person has 
notarized written permission from the abutting property owner.  

9. The following standards must be performed when dismantling any vehicle, 
machine or equipment:  

i. The battery must be removed. 

ii. Engine lubricant, transmission fluid, brake fluid and engine coolant must 
be drained into watertight, covered containers and must be recycled or 
disposed of in accordance with applicable federal or state laws, rules or 
regulations.  

iii. Fluids from a vehicle may not be permitted to flow or be discharged into 
or onto the ground. The person establishing, operating or maintaining the 
automobile graveyard, junkyard or automobile recycling business must 
comply with all applicable federal or state laws related to hazardous 
material must be complied with.  

10. Before a permit is issued, the municipal officers designee shall inspect the 
premises and issue a report to the municipal officers regarding compliance 
with this subsection and any other applicable local, state or federal laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations. No permit shall be issued if the person 
seeking the permit refuses to grant permission for this inspection.  

f. Severability. If any part or parts, sentence, clause or phrase of this subsection is 
declared to be unconstitutional or invalid, such shall not affect the validity or 
constitutionality of the remaining portions of this ordinance or any rules or 
regulations promulgated hereunder.  

g. Effective date. This subsection shall become effective thirty (30) days after 
enactment by the Brunswick Town Council pursuant to Section 211 of the 
Brunswick Town Charter.  

h. Enforcement and penalty. The Brunswick Town Council or its designee shall 
enforce the provisions of this subsection. A violation of any provision of this 
subsection shall be a civil violation, and a civil penalty in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinancesnot exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars 
($2,500.00) shall be imposed, which shall accrue to the benefit of the Town of 
Brunswick. Each day that a violation continues will be treated as a separate offense. 
The Brunswick Town Council or its designee may also seek injunctive relief, where 
appropriate, and may seek attorneys fees and costs for prosecution of violations of 

32



 

 

    Page 21 

this section. The Brunswick Town Council may also revoke or suspend the permit 
after notice and hearing.  

(14) Sales or exhibits by non-profit organizations on public places.  

a. Definitions.  

1. Nonprofit corporation. An entity that is organized, conducted and is in good 
standing as a nonprofit corporation in the State of Maine.  

2. Public place. Any sidewalk, street, the Lower Mall, or property owned by the 
Town of Brunswick, except as otherwise specified in Chapter 14, Section 14-
124.  

b. The town council may, upon making the findings in subsection c, grant a license to 
non-profit corporations for sales or exhibits on public places.  

c. In determining whether or not to issue a license, the town council shall 
affirmatively find the following:  

1. That the applicant is a non-profit corporation. 

2. That the sales or exhibit can be conducted in the proposed location in a manner 
which; 

(i) will not unreasonably interfere with public use and enjoyment of the 
public place; 

(ii) will not unreasonably interfere with free passage in the public place or 
interfere with vehicular or pedestrian access to private property;  

(iii) will not cause a public safety concern by distracting persons operating 
motor vehicle; 

(iv) to the extent the sale or exhibit is partially on private property is with 
written permission from the owner.  

d. The license may be for a single day or up to three (3) days. Fees are charged in 
accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. The fee for a single day is five 
hundred dollars ($500.00) and for up to three (3) days is one thousand two hundred 
dollars ($1,200.00). At the request of the applicant, the Council may waive any 
portion of the fee, except for an twenty-five dollar ($25.00) application fee.  

e. The application for a license shall be on a form provided by the town clerk. The 
applicant shall be required to furnish the following information in and such other 
information as the clerk finds necessary to process the application:  

1. The name of the applicant with contact information and name of the applicant's 
registered agent.  

2. The proposed location of the sale or exhibit. 

3. The proposed hours of the sale or exhibit. 

33



 

 

    Page 22 

4. A copy of the applicant's article of incorporation, bylaws and a certificate of 
good standing.  

5. A description of the sale or exhibit. 

6. A sketch demonstrating that the sale or exhibit can be conducted in 
conformance with subsection (c)(2).  

7. If the sale or event is proposed to be conducted partially on private property, 
written permission from the owner of that property.  

8. A written statement from the chief of police or his or her designee that the 
provisions of subsection (c)(2) can be met.  

After approval by the town council, the license shall be obtained from the town 
clerk.  

f. Indemnification and insurance. 

1. The licensee shall execute a document agreeing to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless the town and its officers, officials and employees in their public and 
individual capacities, from and against any expense or liability in any way 
arising out of or connected to activity under the license.  

2. The council may, in its discretion, as a further condition of the license, require 
the licensee to provide proof of insurance satisfactory to the town manager in 
appropriate amounts with respect to the risks referred to in subsection f.(1) 
above.  

g. Conditions. The town council may place such conditions on the license as it deems 
appropriate to meet the provisions of this subsection.  

(15) Alcohol license applications. A fee in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances, 
of twenty-five dollars ($25.00) will be assessed to any full time alcohol license 
application requiring the approval of the Town Council or their designee.  

(Ord. of 5-4-87, § 101; Mo. of 12-4-89; Mo. of 3-5-90; Mo. of 6-3-91; Ord. of 6-17-91; Mo. of 
6-1-92; Ord. of 2-3-97; Ord. of 10-20-97; Emergency/Regular Ord. of 5-20-02; Ord. of 2-18-
03(1); Ord. of 1-10-05; Ord. of 6-15-05; Ord. of 3-23-06; Ord. of 10-5-06(1); Ord. of 11-1-
06(2) ; Ord. of 5-19-08; Ord. of 2-2-09; Ord. of 3-23-09(1))  

Sec. 10-28. - Penalties.  

The following penalties apply to this article:  

(1) Violation. A person or an organization who violates any of the provisions of this article 
shall be punished by a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of not more 
than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00).  

(2) False information. A person who gives false information in obtaining a license under 
this article shall be punished by a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of 

34



 

 

    Page 23 

Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances.of not more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00).  

(Ord. of 5-4-87, § 103; Mo. of 6-1-92) 

Sec. 10-46. - License required.  

A person shall not engage in the business of collecting or transporting sewage within the 
boundaries of Brunswick without first obtaining a license from the town clerk. A person shall not 
engage in the business of collecting or transporting solid waste within the boundaries of 
Brunswick without first obtaining a license as described in Chapter 13 of this Code. Before a 
license to collect or transport sewage may be issued, the public works director shall inspect each 
disposal vehicle to be used which must be leak-proof and spill-proof. An application fee of 
twenty-five dollars ($25.00) shall be paid for the initial inspection of any vehicle covered under 
this ordinance. Upon approval by the public works director and payment of a fee of seventy-five 
dollars ($75.00) per vehicle, per year, the town clerk shall issue the license to the applicant. If the 
license is issued between July 1 and December 31, the fee shall be thirty-eight dollars ($38.00) 
per vehicle.  Fees shall be charged in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.  

(Ord. of 2-6-89, § 401; Ord. of 11-6-89, § 401; Mo. of 6-1-92; Ord. of 3-1-93; Ord. of 11-1-
06(2))  

Sec. 10-49. - Penalty.  

A person who violates this article shall be punished by a fine of not more than five hundred 
dollars ($500.00) for the first offense, and by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00) for the second and each subsequent offense committed within a twelve-month period 
of time, in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. In any case, the court shall also order the 
violator to reimburse the town for the cost of abating any damage caused by the violation. The 
employer of any person who violates this article within the scope of their employment is subject 
to the same penalties and charges as are outlined in this section.  

(Ord. of 2-6-89, § 802; Mo. of 6-1-92; Ord. of 3-1-93) 

Sec. 10-73. - Permit fee.  

The fee for a special amusement permit is charged in accordance with the Master Schedule 
of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesone 
hundred dollars ($100.00). This fee includes an twenty-five dollar ($25.00) application fee which 
is nonrefundable if the application for the permit is denied.  

(Ord. of 6-5-78, § 206; Ord. of 5-5-87, § 206; Mo. of 6-1-92; Ord. of 11-1-06(2)) 

Sec. 10-77. - Penalty.  

35



 

 

    Page 24 

A person who violates any of the provisions of this article shall be punished by a fine in 
accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this 
Municipal Code of Ordinancesof not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00).  

(Ord. of 6-5-78, § 301; Ord. of 5-5-87, § 301; Mo. of 6-1-92) 

Sec. 10-99. - Issuance of licenses.  

The town clerk shall issue to the owner of the horse-drawn carriage or taxicab, provided he 
shall comply with the further conditions of this article, a license for its operation upon the 
payment of an annual license fee of sixty-five dollars ($65.00) per year for each horse-drawn 
carriage or taxicab. If the license is issued between October 1 and March 31, the fee shall be 
thirty-three dollars ($33.00) per vehicleat a reduced rate.  Fees are charged in accordance with 
the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code 
of Ordinances.  All licenses issued under this article shall continue in force until the first day of 
the following April.  

(Ord. of 8-15-88, § 4; Mo. of 6-1-92; Ord. of 2-5-96; Ord. of 11-1-06(2)) 

Sec. 10-108. - Penalty.  

Any person convicted of a violation of this article shall be guilty of a civil offense and shall 
be punished by a civil penalty in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, 
Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of not more than two hundred 
and fifty dollars ($250.00).  

(Ord. of 8-15-88, § 9; Mo. of 6-1-92; Ord. of 2-5-96) 

Sec. 11-13. - Boat storage.  

No boat, vessel, raft, barge, or other watercraft shall be stored overnight in or on any 
navigable waters within the town without being licensed or permitted to do so. A person found in 
violation will be subjected to the cost of removing the vessel, boat, raft, barge, or watercraft and 
be fined in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesone hundred and fifty dollars ($150.00).  

(Ord. of 2-23-15(1)) 

Sec. 11-136. - Fees.  

The applicant for a license under this chapter shall pay a fee in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

as follows:  

(1) Resident commercial shellfish license, three hundred dollars ($300.00). 

36



 

 

    Page 25 

(2) Nonresident commercial shellfish license, four hundred fifty dollars ($450.00). 

(3) Resident recreational shellfish license, twenty-five dollars ($25.00) over age sixty-two 
(62), free.  

(4) Nonresident recreational shellfish license, fifty dollars ($50.00) over age sixty-two (62), 
free.  

(5) Resident student shellfish license, seventy-five dollars ($75.00). 

(6) Nonresident student shellfish license, one hundred twenty-five dollars ($125.00). 

(7) Bushel license, one hundred seventy-five dollars ($175.00). 

(Ord. of 3-6-89, § 305; Ord. of 2-5-90, § 305; Ord. of 3-4-91; Ord. of 2-18-92; Ord. of 4-5-93; 
Ord. of 2-22-94; Emergency Ord. of 1-13-97; Emergency Ord. of 2-3-97; Ord. of 2-3-97; Ord. of 
3-16-99; Ord. of 1-18-00(1); Ord. of 6-5-00(1); Ord. of 2-6-01(1); Ord. of 4-7-08(1); Ord. of 12-
7-09; Ord. of 4-1-13)  

Sec. 11.5-37. - Contents of citation.  

The citation shall be in writing, describe the nature of the violation, including the ordinance 
section violated, state the date by which the violation must be corrected, that a civil penalty of 
one hundred dollars ($100.00) is imposed for the violation, the date by which the penalty must be 
paid and to whom and the consequences of failing to pay the penalty within the period stated. 
The time period allowed by the enforcement official within which the violation must be 
corrected shall be reasonable and shall take into consideration any notice period previously given 
to the violator, the nature of the violation to be corrected and the time which the enforcement 
official estimates will be reasonably required to correct the violation. The citation shall state the 
penalties which may be imposed if the violation is not corrected within the time period set forth 
in the first citation and shall also state the penalties which may be imposed if any additional 
citation must be issued for the same violation. The citation shall also state that all additional 
penalties are cumulative.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 7) 

Sec. 11.5-38. - Service of citation.  

A citation may be served upon the violator by giving the citation to the violator in hand, by 
leaving it with a person of suitable age and discretion at the residence or place of business of the 
violator or mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the violator's last known address. 
If the return receipt is not returned, the citation shall be conclusively presumed to have been 
served if it is also sent by regular mail postage prepaid, which has not been returned as 
undeliverable by the postal service.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 8) 

Sec. 11.5-37. - Time limits for corrective action.  

37



 

 

    Page 26 

The time period specified in a citation within which a violation must be corrected shall be 
reasonable in consideration of:  

(1) The threat posed by such violation to the health, safety and welfare of the public; 

(2) The nature of the work required to correct the violation; and 

(3) Any notice period given to the violator in a previous citation for the same violation or 
pursuant to Section 11.5-34.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 7) 

Sec. 11.5-38. - Penalty.  

The following civil penalty shall be imposed upon the issuance of a citation in accordance 
with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal 
Code of Ordinances.:  

First citation: $100.00  

Second citation: $200.00  

Third citation: $400.00  

Fourth and subsequent citations: $800.00  

Civil penalties imposed are cumulative.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 8) 

Sec. 11.5-39. - Further violations.  

If the violation has not been corrected within the time specified in the first citation, the 
enforcement official may issue a second citation. The second citation shall contain the same 
information set forth in the first citation regarding the nature of the violation but may do so by 
reference to the first citation. It shall also state that, in addition to the one hundred dollars 
($100.00) civil penalty imposed for the first citation, a civil penalty of two hundred dollars 
($200.00) has been imposed for the second citation. The second citation shall also state that the 
continued failure to correct the violation may result in the issuance of further citations and shall 
indicate the penalties provided for the issuance of subsequent citations. The time limits specified 
for correcting the violation may be the same as that allowed in the first citation or may be altered 
if there has been a change in circumstances. The same procedure shall be followed with regard to 
the issuance of subsequent citations, with additional penalties as set forth in Section 11.5-38.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 9) 

Sec. 11.5-40. - Penalty for nonpayment of penalty; collection proceedings.  

All civil penalties imposed by citation shall be due within five (5) days after the date by 
which the violation was ordered to be corrected. All civil penalties not paid when due shall bear 
interest at the rate of eighteen (18) percent per annum. The failure to pay when due any civil 

38



 

 

    Page 27 

penalty imposed pursuant to this Article for violation of any ordinances shall itself constitute a 
violation of such law, ordinance or rule for which the violator shall be liable for the penalties as 
and to the extent provided for in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 4452(3). The enforcement official or city 
attorney may initiate appropriate proceedings to collect any civil penalty which is not timely paid 
together with all interest thereon. Such legal action may include proceedings pursuant to 30-A 
M.R.S.A. § 4452.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 10) 

Sec. 11.5-41. - Repeat violations.  

If a violator has been previously served with a notice of violation with regard to a specific 
violation, he shall not be entitled to receive any further notice of the same violation if it is 
repeated. If the enforcement official determines that a violator has repeated the same violation, 
he may proceed in accordance with Sections 11.5-35 and 11.5-36 of this Article without further 
notice.  

(Ord. of 7-7-08, § 11) 

Sec. 11.5-72. - Civil penalty.  

Any person who is found to be in violation of any provision of this Article shall be subject 
to a civil penalty in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of not less than five hundred dollars 
($500.00) and not more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). Each violation of a separate 
provision of this Article, and each day of violation, shall constitute separate offenses. In addition, 
if the town is the prevailing party in an enforcement action, said person shall also be liable for all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the town in the enforcement of this Article, including but not 
limited to staff time, attorney's fees, and costs. All civil penalties shall inure to the benefit of the 
Town of Brunswick.  

(Ord. of 10-20-08(1), § 12) 

Sec. 12.5-7. - Penalty.  

Any person, firm, corporation, association or other entity violating the provisions of this 
chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 
Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesof up to $2500.00. 
Each day a violation is allowed to continue shall be a separate offense. Any civil penalty 
assessed shall be recovered for the use of the town.  

(Ord. of 8-15-94, § VII; Ord. of 9-7-99, § VII) 

Sec. 13-30. - Collection of household refuse by town.  

39



 

 

    Page 28 

(a) Effective January 1, 2007 all household refuse, in order to be collected by the town, must be 
placed in tightly sealed town approved plastic bags. All refuse is to be placed curbside for 
municipal collection not earlier than 4:00 p.m. the day before nor no later than the hour of 
pickup of the day of collection established by the public works director. Placing or allowing 
refuse to remain curbside at any other times is a violation of this chapter, subject to the 
remedies and penalties provided in subsection (h) below. Rubbish shall be collected weekly, 
insofar as is possible. It is the responsibility of the resident that solid waste placed curbside 
must be inaccessible to dogs, rodents and scavengers. The resident may place refuse 
contained in town-approved plastic bags within other containers not exceeding a capacity of 
thirty-three (33) gallons. A refuse container which does not meet the requirements of this 
chapter (i.e. non town approved trash bags, paper bags, cardboard boxes, container without 
handles, etc.) or which weighs more than forty (40) pounds when filled, will not be collected 
by the town.  

(b) A vote of the town council shall determine the price and size of the approved plastic bags. 
The bags will initially be fifty cents ($0.50) per 15-gallon bag and one dollar ($1.00) per 33-
gallon bag upon enactment of this ordinance. Prices will be in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. 

(c) The town requires all residents to minimize their refuse through recycling and the maximum 
amount of household refuse which will be collected per residential unit is the equivalent of 
four (4), thirty-two (32) gallon bags of household refuse per week. The maximum limit may 
be waived by the public works director due to holidays, make up collections, and other 
similar instances.  

(d) Wood and coal ash shall not be placed curbside for collection but should be taken to the 
disposal area.  

(e) No yard and garden refuse, leaves or brush will be collected with the regular refuse 
collection.  

(f) Used motor oil, antifreeze, paint or other toxic liquids shall not be placed curbside for 
collection. These materials shall be disposed of in accordance with rules established by the 
public works department.  

(g) It shall be the duty of the owner of every residential property occupied or intended to be 
occupied to provide and keep within the building or upon the lot where the building is 
situated suitable and sufficient containers to receive the accumulation of solid waste on the 
premises during the interval between collections.  

(h) Any owner, resident or person placing household refuse in violation of subsection (a) above 
shall be liable for violations of this chapter. Any owner or person placing household refuse 
in violation of subsection (a) above shall cause the household refuse to be removed within 
twenty-four (24) hours of the issuance of an order to remove by the chief of police, the 
codes enforcement officer or the duly authorized representative of either. Such order may be 
oral or written and shall be given to those persons who have registered their ownership or 
management interest in the property as required by Chapter 8, Article III of this Code and 
any person placing household refuse in violation of subsection (a) above. An oral order shall 
be memorialized by a letter stating the date and time of the oral order and to whom it was 

40



 

 

    Page 29 

given. Failure to remove such refuse within twenty-four (24) hours of the issuance of an 
order shall constitute a violation of this chapter. In the event of such failure to remove or in 
the event that the codes enforcement officer has received no registration of the ownership or 
management interest in the property abutting the area where the household refuse has been 
placed, the chief of police, the codes enforcement officer or the duly authorized 
representative of either shall arrange to have the waste material removed and provide written 
notice of such removal to the owner of record of the property, who shall be responsible for 
the costs for collecting the household refuse.  

(i) After the issuance of one (1) order to remove and one (1) written notice of removal given 
under subsection (h) above during any twelve-month period, the fee for collecting all the 
household refuse which was not removed in compliance with subsection (h) shall be in 
accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to 
this Municipal Code of Ordinances one hundred dollars ($100.00) for up to one (1) cubic 
yard of refuse collected. If the refuse collected exceeds one (1) cubic yard, the fee shall be 
one hundred dollars ($100.00) plusbe increased by the cost per cubic yard to collect and 
dispose of the waste at an approved facility. Such collection and disposal fees shall 
thereafter be charged each time the town removes waste material deposited in violation of 
this chapter, without the need for additional order or notice under subsection (h).  

(j) At the inception of the program, there will be up to thirty (30) free 15-gallon bags provided 
on a one (1) time basis to each residence.  

(Ord. of 3-1-93; Ord. of 5-1-00(2); Ord. of 1-1-07) 

Sec. 13-40. - Commercial waste collectors.  

(a) No commercial waste collector shall collect, haul, transport, recycle or dispose of solid 
waste generated within the boundaries of the municipality without first obtaining an annual 
license.  

(b) Any person wishing to obtain a commercial waste collector license shall complete an 
application and submit a twenty-five dollar ($25.00) nonrefundable application fee in 
accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to 
this Municipal Code of Ordinances. The application shall be submitted on a form provided 
by the public works director and at a minimum contain the following information:  

(1) Applicant's name. 

(2) Applicant's residence. 

(3) Address of the applicant's place of business. 

(4) If the applicant is a corporation, the names and addresses of each of its directors and 
officers.  

(5) A description of the vehicles and equipment to be used, including the make, model, year 
of manufacture and license plate number of said vehicle and equipment.  

(6) A list of real estate and/or personal property owned or used by the hauler and subject to 
property taxation within the Town of Brunswick.  

41



 

 

    Page 30 

(c) Before the license may be issued, the public works director shall inspect each disposal 
vehicle to ensure that it is leak-proof and spill-proof.  

(Ord. of 3-1-93) 

Sec. 13-55. - Residential disposal permit.  

(a) Residents who qualify under this chapter may purchase an annual residential disposal permit 
(in sticker form) at the Graham Road landfill, the public works department or the municipal 
office. Unless a special exception is granted by the public works director, the permit shall be 
attached to any automobile, van, pick-up truck or utility trailer which is registered for a 
gross vehicle weight of not more than nine thousand (9,000) pounds. The cost of the permit 
shall be in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesfive ($5.00) per vehicle except during the 
last four (4) months of the calendar year when the cost shall be three dollars ($3.00). All 
permits shall expire on December 31.  

(b) The following shall qualify for residential disposal permits: 

(1) Residents of Brunswick with at least one motor vehicle registered in the Town of 
Brunswick. 

(2) Seasonal residents who own and, on a temporary or seasonal basis, reside in residential 
property located within the Town of Brunswick and who pay property taxes to the 
Town of Brunswick.  

(3) Military personnel who reside in residential units located within the Town of 
Brunswick. 

(4) Other residents not meeting criteria (1) through (3) may qualify by submitting proof of 
residency satisfactory to the public works director.  

(c) A residential permit shall entitle the holder to deliver acceptable waste from their own 
residence or from other units of the building they occupy as their personal residence, 
provided the building has four (4) residential units or less in Brunswick to the Graham Road 
Landfill in accordance with the schedule of fees in Article VI of this Chapter.  

(d) A residential permit holder shall not be entitled to deliver solid waste free of charge in a 
vehicle licensed for the collection or transportation of solid waste for hire.  

(Ord. of 3-1-93; Ord. of 5-3-04; Ord. of 10-18-06) 

Sec. 13-72. - Graham Road Landfill.  

The Graham Road Landfill is a Maine Department of Environmental Protection approved 
Secure Landfill located on Graham Road in Brunswick. Maine.  

(a) Acceptable materials at the Graham Road Landfill.  

(1) The following waste classifications are acceptable for disposal at the Graham Road 
Landfill:  

42



 

 

    Page 31 

Brown goods;  

Commercial waste;  

Construction and demolition material;  

Household furniture;  

Household refuse;  

Municipal waste;  

Scrap metal;  

Tires; No tires will be accepted unless they are separated from their rims.  

White goods;  

Waste wood;  

Trees and brush; Masonry.  

(b) Graham Road Landfill disposal fees. All users of the Graham Road Landfill are subject 
to the following fees in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, 
Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. schedule with the 
exceptions noted for those holding valid residential permits and vehicles operated by the 
town.  

(1) Acceptable waste (with the exception of individual items noted below on this schedule 
of fees):  

a. Residential waste delivered to the landfill by a resident who possesses a valid 
residential disposal permit shall be subject to the following fees and 
conditions:  

Household refuse (per ton) .....$80.00  

Minimum charge shall be five dollars ($5.00)  

White goods and scrap metal (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge shall be three dollars ($3.00)  

Construction & demolition debris, brown goods, & household furniture (per 
ton) .....$80.00  

Minimum charge shall be five dollars ($5.00)  

Asphalt shingles (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Masonry (per ton) .....$60.00  

43



 

 

    Page 32 

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Waste wood and wood items (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Tree and brush waste (for resident) .....No Charge  

b. Commercial waste fees: 

Disposal fee (per ton) .....$80.00  

The minimum charge per load shall be five dollars ($5.00)  

Asphalt shingles (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Masonry (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Waste wood and wood items (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

Tree and brush waste (per ton) .....$30.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

(2) Tires. All tires disposed of at the landfill are subject to the following fees. No tires 
will be accepted unless they are separated from their rims.  

Up to but not including eighteen (18) inch rim size (each) .....$2.00  

Truck tire, eighteen (18) inch rim diameter or greater (each) .....$10.00  

Heavy equipment tire (Twenty-five dollar ($25.00) minimum charge—Per pound) 
.....$0.15  

(3) White goods and scrap metal (per ton) .....$60.00  

Minimum charge of three dollars ($3.00)  

(4) Inseparable wood waste or masonry debris (per ton) .....$160.00  

(c5) Refuse which contains wood waste or masonry material deemed by the public works 
director as inseparable will be accepted at the Graham Road Landfill provided the 
person depositing such material has first obtained a permit from the department of 
public works.  

(d6) The town council may contractually reduce the fees in this section as part of a contract 
the town executes to provide curbside residential rubbish collection funded through the 
town's annual budget.  

44



 

 

    Page 33 

(Ord. of 3-1-93; Ord. of 5-3-04; Ord. of 10-18-06; Ord. of 5-18-15(1)) 

Sec. 13-97. - Penalty.  

A person who violates this chapter shall be punished by a civil penalty of not more than five 
hundred dollars ($500.00) for the first offense, and by a civil penalty of not more than one 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for the second and each subsequent offense committed within a 
twelve-month period of time, plus cost and attorneys fees for each civil penalty, in accordance 
with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal 
Code of Ordinances. In any case, the court shall also order the violator to reimburse the town for 
the cost of abating any damage caused by the violation. The employer of any person who 
violates this chapter within the scope of their employment is subject to the same penalties and 
charges as are outlined in this section. Serious or habitual offenders of the regulations within this 
chapter pertaining to the Town Graham Road Landfill may be prohibited from using these 
facilities.  

(Ord. of 3-1-93; Ord. of 10-18-06) 

Sec. 14-2. - Unreasonable noise on public ways—Creation of certain noise upon public rights-of-
way.  

(a) Purpose. The Brunswick Town Council finds that excessive noise on the public ways may 
cause distraction to other drivers and preclude the safe operation of motor vehicles to the 
detriment of the health, welfare and safety of the Brunswick's citizens. Accordingly, it is the 
policy of the Town of Brunswick to prohibit unnecessary, excessive, annoying and 
distracting noise on public right[s]-of-way within the Town of Brunswick.  

(b) Definitions. For the purpose of this section, the following words and phrases shall have the 
following meanings:  

"Motorcycle" means an unenclosed motor vehicle, having a saddle for the use of the 
operator, with two (2) or three (3) wheels in contact with the ground, including, but not 
limited to, motor-scooters and mini-bikes.  

"Noise-creating devices" means any electrical, mechanical or chemical device or 
instrument, or combination thereof that creates noise during its operation by a person.  

"Operation" means actual control by a person.  

"Public right-of-way" means any street, roadway, alley, sidewalk, or other area deeded 
or dedicated for public travel or transportation purposes.  

"Straight pipe exhaust system" means any straight through muffler that does not contain 
baffles, including, but not limited to, glass packs, steel packs and straight pipes.  

"Town" means the Town of Brunswick, Maine.  

(c) Creation of certain noises upon public right-of-way prohibited.  

45



 

 

    Page 34 

(1) No person, while occupying any public right-of-way in the town, shall emit any noise or 
operate any noise-creating device in such a manner that the public's attention is drawn 
to the source of the noise.  

(2) The prohibition of this section shall include, but not be limited to, the following activity 
or conduct:  

a. Discharging fireworks or any exploding device; 

b. Firing a starter pistol, air gun, BB gun or a firearm; 

c. Sounding a bell or whistle for so extended a period of time as to cause annoyance 
to others;  

d. Rapid throttle advance and/or revving of an internal combustion engine resulting in 
increased noise from the engine;  

e. Operations of motor vehicle, as defined in 29-A M.R.S.A. § 101(42), including but 
not limited to a motorcycle, with a straight pipe exhaust system, an exhaust system 
with a cutout, bypass or similar device or an exhaust system that does not meet the 
requirements of Maine law, including, but not limited to, 29-A M.R.S.A. § 1912.  

(d) Exceptions. The provisions of this section shall not apply to the following activity or 
conduct:  

(1) Expression or communication protected by the United State Constitution, including the 
First Amendment, or the Maine Constitution.  

(2) Any activity or conduct the regulation of which has been preempted by Maine Statute. 

(3) Any noise created by a governmental entity in the performance of an official duty. 

(4) Any noise for which a permit has been issued by an authority having jurisdiction to 
issue the permit.  

(5) The sounding of any signaling device permitted by law. 

(6) A noise emitted to warn a person or persons of danger. 

(7) Unamplified vocal or instrumental music between 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. 

(e) Engine brake. A person operating a motor vehicle in the Town of Brunswick shall not use an 
unmuffled engine brake to slow the vehicle except in an emergency situation for the purpose 
of avoiding a collision with a vehicle, object, person or animal. As used in this section, 
"engine brake" means a device that retards the motion of a motor vehicle by using the 
compression of the engine of the motor vehicle and "unmuffled" means that the engine brake 
is not equipped with a muffler that complies with the requirements of 29-A M.R.S.A. § 
1912. This section does not apply to emergency response vehicles operated by a 
governmental entity or licensed provider of emergency medical services.  

(f) Penalties. Violation of this section is a civil violation punishable by the following civil 
penalties in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances:.  

First and second offense: $100.00  

46



 

 

    Page 35 

Third and subsequent offenses: $500.00  

A person may avoid the court process by executing a consent agreement with the police 
chief or the police chief's designee, the terms of which shall include, but not be limited to, an 
admission of the violation and provisions for the payment of civil penalties to the Treasurer 
of the Town of Brunswick.  

(g) Enforcement. This section may be enforced by any Town of Brunswick Police Officer.  

(Ord. of 4-20-87, § 102; Ord. of 8-5-05) 

Sec. 14-7. - Penalty.  

A person who violates any of the provisions of sections 14-1 through 14-7 shall be punished 
by a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. 

of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(Ord. of 4-20-87, § 108) 

Sec. 14-32. - Penalties.  

The Code Enforcement Officer shall give a property owner who violates any of the 
provisions of this code a written notice of violation, which shall include the action necessary to 
correct the violation, and allow two weeks for correction before enforcement under this section.  

A person who violates any of the provisions of this code shall be punished by a civil penalty 
in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to 
this Municipal Code of Ordinances. of not less than twenty-five dollars ($25.00) and not more 
than one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

This code shall be enforced by the Code Enforcement Officer.  

(Ord. of 5-21-01) 

Sec. 14-73. - Fee schedule.  

An application fee of one hundred dollars ($100.00) shall be paid for the issuance of an 
excavation permit in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. If the excavation work is approved by 
the public works director to take place between November 1 and March 15 of the following year, 
or the excavation work is approved to take place within the five-year moratorium period from 
when the street was most recently resurfaced, the application fee will be charged in accordance 
with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal 
Code of Ordinancesis five hundred dollars ($500.00). A separate application is required for each 
utility excavation. Where the excavation work obstructs the public way a separate Obstruction 
Permit as detailed in this chapter, section 14-82, is required before the start of any work relating 
to this excavation permit. In addition to the application fee, an inspection fee of fifty dollars 
($50.00) per application is required in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, 

47



 

 

    Page 36 

Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances. Where the 
excavation permit involves a utility line replacement or installation in excess of fifty (50) feet 
then the inspection fee is computed as one dollar ($1.00) per foot for open cut trench work or 
fifty cents ($0.50) per foot for directional drilling, times the estimated utility line length as 
determined by the public works director. The following cCharges  in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances,which are hereby established as being not in excess of the reasonable cost of 
replacement of the openings in the public way by the public works department, and must be paid 
by the permittee if the public works director determines the restoration of the excavation is to be 
done by public works crews:.  

Excavation Charges per Square Yard  
Up to 

25 Sq. Yds. 
Over 

25 Sq. Yds. 

Bituminous concrete 4″ or more in depth $45.00 $35.00 

Bituminous concrete less than 4″ in depth 40.00 30.00 

Bituminous concrete over portland cement concrete 50.00 40.00 

Bituminous treated surface or shoulder 40.00 30.00 

Plain gravel surface 10.00 10.00 

Bituminous concrete sidewalk 40.00 30.00 

Portland cement concrete sidewalk 35.00 33.00 

Grass esplanade or median strip 20.00 20.00 

Bituminous concrete curbing 15.00 per linear foot 

Granite curbing—Removal or realignment 30.00 per linear foot 

Granite curbing—Installation of new material 45.00 per linear foot 

  

(Ord. of 8-5-85, § 3; Ord. of 5-18-15(2)) 

Sec. 14-80. - Violation and penalty.  

48



 

 

    Page 37 

A person or organization which violates this article shall be punished for each offense by a 
fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A 
to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesof not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00), plus the 
cost of any applicable fees and charges for the work done which remains unpaid. No further 
permits shall be issued to, and no further excavation work which requires a permit shall be done 
by any person which violates this article until any amounts due have been paid. If a private party 
fails to complete within a reasonable time any work for which an excavation permit is required, 
the town may complete the work and charge the owner of the property for the cost of doing so.  

(Ord. of 8-5-85, § 10) 

Sec. 14-151. - Penalty.  

Any person who violates this division shall forfeit a civil penalty in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00) for the first and second offenses and 
not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for subsequent offenses.  

(Ord. of 6-13-83, § 124; Ord. of 3-1-99; Ord. of 10-20-03(2)) 

Note— Formerly § 14-144  

Sec. 14-164. - Violations and penalties.  

The following violation and penalty provisions apply to this division:  

(1) Failure to obtain membership. Except as provided in section 14-162, a person seventeen 
(17) years of age or over who uses the recreation facilities at Coffin Pond without first 
obtaining a membership tag shall be punished by a fine in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances.of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(2) Transfer of membership tag. A person seventeen (17) years of age or over who transfers 
or attempts to transfer a membership tag to another to whom it does not belong shall be 
punished by a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees 
and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of not more than one 
hundred dollars ($100.00).  

(3) Juvenile violation. A person under seventeen (17) years of age who violates either of 
the above subsections or aids another in so doing shall be punished by forfeiting the 
privilege of using the Coffin Pond recreation facilities for the remainder of the season.  

(Ord. of 6-18-84, § 104) 

Sec. 15-8. - Parking penalty.  

A person who parks a motor vehicle in violation of article IV, sections 15-71 and 15-73 will 
be subject to a penalty fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees 

49



 

 

    Page 38 

and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesof twenty-five dollars ($25.00), 
with the exception of a resident permit holder failing to properly display their valid permit, in 
which case the penalty fine shall be reduced in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.to ten 
dollars ($10.00).  

Any person who parks a motor vehicle in violation of article IV, section 15-78 will be 
subject to a penalty fine as set forth in 30A M.R.S.A. § 3009, subsection 1, paragraph D. With 
the exception of improper or failure to display a disability parking placard which will be subject 
to a penalty fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 
Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances.of ten dollars ($10.00).  

(Ord. of 5-2-88, § 35; Mo. of 1-7-91; Ord. of 9-16-96; Emergency/Regular Ord. of 7-21-97; Ord. 
of 5-1-00; Ord. of 5-31-06(2); Ord. of 1-12-13; Ord. of 12-1-14(2))  

Sec. 15-9. - General penalty.  

Except as provided in sections 15-8 and 15-10, a person who violates this chapter shall be 
punished by a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and 
Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinancesof not more than one hundred dollars 
($100.00).  

(Ord. of 5-2-88, § 36) 

Sec. 15-85. - Parking violations—Towing.  

(a) Purpose. The purpose of these sections is to improve the enforcement of the Brunswick 
parking ordinances and to discourage habitual violators.  

(b) Definitions. The following words and terms as used in these sections shall have the 
meanings ascribed thereto, unless the context otherwise indicates:  

(1) Towing list means a list maintained by the police department containing the names of 
those wreckers approved by the town to respond to requests for the towing of vehicles 
made by the police department.  

(2) Wrecker means a person engaged in the business of, or offering the services of, a 
vehicle wrecker or towing service, whereby motor vehicles are or may be towed or 
otherwise moved from one (1) place to another by the use of a motor vehicle adapted to 
and designated for that purpose.  

(3) Outstanding parking ticket means any notice of violation of any parking ordinance of 
the Town of Brunswick where:  

a. The owner of the offending vehicle has been finally determined to be in violation 
by reason of default or otherwise; and  

b. The resultant fine or waiver charge established pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 3001 
and 3009 has not been paid.  

50



 

 

    Page 39 

(4) Waiver charges or charges means the fees a violator may pay to waive court action plus 
all expenses the Town of Brunswick incurs specifically enumerated in this chapter or 
state law to collect fees or fines, including but not limited to certified mail fees.  

(c) Towing. The Brunswick Police Department is authorized, subject to the requirements of 
these sections, to remove by use of a wrecker, and impound any vehicle found on any public 
or private way or public property, which has outstanding parking tickets with accumulated 
fines totalling seventy-five dollars ($75.00) or more, and is authorized to take whatever 
action is reasonably necessary to carry out the provisions of these sections.  

(d) Notice to owner before towing. After a vehicle has received outstanding tickets with 
accumulated fines totalling seventy-five dollars ($75.00) or more, a letter will be sent by 
certified mail to the vehicle's registered owner. This letter alerts the owner of the outstanding 
parking tickets and shall allow fourteen (14) days for payment of accumulated fines or 
waiver charges. After this time period has transpired without either payment in full or an 
arrangement acceptable to the chief of police having been made to pay the fines or waiver 
charges, the vehicle will be subject to tow.  

(e) Procedure for towing and impoundment. Any police officer ordering towing and 
impoundment of a vehicle under these sections shall, at the time of such towing and 
impounding, or within a reasonable time thereafter, notify the dispatcher of the storage 
location of the vehicle. Such information shall be recorded by the dispatcher for use by the 
chief of police, or his/her authorized representative. The chief of police, or his/her 
authorized representative shall notify the owner or operator by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of the towing and impoundment of the vehicle within five (5) business days of the 
towing and impoundment thereof, the storage location of such vehicle, and the requirements 
of release as set forth in subsection (f) of this section. This section shall not apply where an 
impounded vehicle has been released within the five-day period.  

(f) Release of vehicles. The vehicle shall not be released until:  

(1) The individual requesting the release presents satisfactory evidence of his/her right to 
possession and signs a receipt therefor; and  

(2) The chief of police, or his/her authorized representative, certifies that all fines or waiver 
fees described in this chapter, including the fees for towing and impoundment have 
been paid; or  

(3) Upon the certification by the chief of police, or his/her authorized representative, that 
the owner or operator is unable to pay accumulated fines or waiver charges by reason of 
poverty, having provided satisfactory proof of such status, and that such owner or 
operator has accepted a summons initiating a court proceeding to determine his/her 
liability for the alleged violations.  

(g) Towing conditions. Once a police officer has ordered towing, one (1) of three (3) following 
possibilities exist:  

(1) If the towing truck is enroute to the scene but has not yet arrived, and the owner or 
operator has arrived, or if they arrive approximately the same time, then the owner or 
operator must pay the wrecker, on arrival, in the amount of one-half of the towing 

51



 

 

    Page 40 

charge and must pay to the chief of police, or his/her authorized representative, all fines 
or waiver charges to effect the on-the-scene release of the vehicle.  

(2) If the wrecker has secured the vehicle before the owner or operator arrives, the owner or 
operator must pay the wrecker, on arrival, all the towing charges and must pay the chief 
of police, or his/her authorized representative, all fines or waiver charges to effect the 
on-the-scene release of the vehicle.  

(3) If the vehicle is actually towed away for impoundment, the vehicle owner or operator 
must pay the wrecker all towing and storage charges and must pay the chief of police, 
or his/her authorized representative, all fines and waiver charges, in order to gain 
release of the vehicle.  

(h) Interference with enforcement. It shall be a violation of these sections for any person to 
obstruct or attempt to prevent the removal of a vehicle as provided in these sections. The 
penalty for such violation shall be charged in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code ofnot be less than 
fifty dollars ($50.00) nor more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).  

(i) Hearings. The owner or operator of a towed and impounded vehicle may request a hearing 
on the applicability of these sections to the towing and impoundment. Such hearing shall be 
scheduled at the earliest possible date and be conducted by the captain of operations. 
Decisions of the captain of operations shall be appealable to the chief of police.  

(Ord. of 8-21-95; Ord. of 1-12-13) 

Sec. 16-29. - Penalty.  

A person who violates this article shall be punished by a fine in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinancesof not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00) for the first offense, and by a fine of 
not more than two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) for the second and each subsequent offense 
committed within a twelve-month period of time. In any case, the court shall also order the 
violator to reimburse the town for the cost of abating any damage caused by the violation. The 
employer of any person who violates this article within the scope of their employment is subject 
to the same penalties and charges as are outlined in this section.  

(Ord.of 2-6-89, § 802) 

Sec. 16-85. - Fine.  

Any person who continues any violation beyond the time limit provided for in Division 2 of 
this article may be liable to the town for a fine in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances in an 
amount of up to one hundred dollars ($100.00) per day until such violation is corrected or abated.  

(Ord. of 7-6-93, Art. II, § 25) 

Sec. 17-2. - Concealed firearms permit.  

52



 

 

    Page 41 

(a) A person may obtain a permit to carry a concealed firearm from the chief of police by filing 
an application with him and by complying with all of the provisions of 25 M.R.S.A., §§ 
2003—2006. The applicant shall also submit a filing fee in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinancesof thirty-five dollars ($35.00) in the case of an original application and a filing 
fee of twenty dollars ($20.00) in the case of a renewal. The application fee shall cover any 
number of firearms involved and any permit issued. The concealed firearms permit shall be 
valid for four (4) years from the date of issue, unless sooner revoked for cause by the chief 
of police.  

(b) When the chief of police denies an application for the issuance of a permit or revokes a 
permit already issued for reasons listed in 25 M.R.S.A., § 2005, the person aggrieved by 
such action shall have a right to appeal the decision of the chief of police to the town council 
by filing a written request for a hearing with the town clerk within seven (7) days of such 
denial or revocation. The town council shall hear such appeal in executive session within 
thirty (30) days of the filing of the request for a hearing. Any person aggrieved by the 
hearing before the town council may appeal to the superior court within thirty (30) days 
pursuant to Rule 80B of the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure.  

(Ord. of 10-19-04) 

Sec. 17-3. - Discharge of firearm near dwelling.  

No person shall discharge a firearm within one hundred (100) yards of a residential dwelling 
without the permission of the owner or, in the owner's absence, an adult occupant of that 
dwelling, except in a licensed shooting gallery or at a target practice site. Any person who 
violates the provisions of this section shall be punished by a civil penalty in accordance with the 
Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinances of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.00) for the first offense and not more 
than five hundred dollars ($500.00) for the second and subsequent offenses.  

(Ord. of 10-19-04) 

Sec. 17-5. - Target practice in any area of town.  

(a) The discharge of a firearm for the purpose of non-commercial target practice shall be 
allowed only under the following conditions:  

(1) The owner/renter/lessee of the property shall have obtained a one-year permit from the 
police department indicating that the proposed target practice site has been inspected 
and approved. The site must have an adequate backstop which may be:  

a. A natural pit, gully or depression of sufficient depth and density so as to prevent 
the escape of any bullet or ricocheted bullet from the immediate area with 
consideration for the caliber of firearm being discharged; or  

b. A manmade structure constructed of appropriate materials with sufficient height 
and density so as to prevent the escape of any bullet or ricocheted bullet from the 
immediate area with consideration for the caliber of firearm being discharged.  

53



 

 

    Page 42 

Target practice into the air with a shotgun must use a pellet size no greater than six (6) 
in an open area owned by the applicant or that the applicant utilizes with written 
permission and large enough for the pellets to remain within the open area after firing. 
Target practice with a shotgun using a pellet size greater than six (6) must comply with 
a. and b. above.  

The police chief or designee shall inspect the proposed site within five (5) working days 
after receipt of an application and shall act on the application within five (5) working 
days of the inspection. Appropriate action is to approve the site, recommend site 
improvements or deny use of the site. When recommended site improvements are made, 
the application must be re-submitted and will be treated as a new application. If 
approval is denied, the applicant may appeal the decision to the town manager within 
five (5) working days of receipt of the denial by stating in writing the basis for the 
appeal. The town manager shall respond in a timely manner and base his/her decision to 
grant an appeal on the provisions of this section. Permits shall expire one (1) year from 
date of issue. A new permit will be required for continued use of the target practice site.  

(2) Hours of operation during which target practice takes place are from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 
p.m. or sunset, if earlier.  

(b) The discharge of a firearm at a commercial target practice site in any area of town shall be 
allowed only under the following conditions:  

(1) The owner/renter/lessee of the property shall have obtained a target practice site permit 
under section 17-5(a).  

(2) The use must be in compliance with all land use and building code requirements for 
recreational facilities, or the owner/renter/lessee of the property shall have obtained a 
special permit under section 701 of the Town of Brunswick Zoning Ordinance, and all 
other necessary permits must be obtained.  

(3) Hours of operation during which commercial target practice takes place shall be from 
8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. or sunset, if earlier.  

(c) Any person violating this section shall be punished by a fine in accordance with the Master 
Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of 
Ordinancesof not more than five hundred dollars ($500.00).  

(Ord. of 10-19-04) 

Sec. 18-5. - Violation and enforcement.  

(a) Penalty for sale violation. Any person who violates the provisions of section 18-3 shall 
commit a civil violation punishable by a penalty in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances,of 
not less than three hundred dollars ($300.00) and not more than five hundred dollars 
($500.00) plus attorney's fees and costs for the first offense, and a penalty of not less than 
six hundred dollars ($600.00) and not more than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) plus 
attorney's fees and costs for subsequent offenses, to be recovered by the town for its use. 
Each day such violation occurs or continues to occur shall constitute a separate violation.  

54



 

 

    Page 43 

(b) Penalty for use violation. Any person who violates the provisions of section 18-4 shall 
commit a civil violation punishable by a penalty in accordance with the Master Schedule of 
Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, Appendix A to this Municipal Code of Ordinances,of 
not less than two hundred dollars ($200.00) and not more than four hundred dollars 
($400.00) plus attorney's fees and costs for the first offense, and a penalty of not less than 
three hundred dollars ($300.00) and not more than six hundred dollars ($600.00) plus 
attorney's fees and costs for subsequent offenses, to be recovered by the town for its use. 
Each day such violation occurs or continues to occur shall constitute a separate violation.  

(c) Enforcement. This chapter shall be enforced by the town police department.  

(d) Injunction. In addition to any other remedies available at law or equity, the town, acting 
through its town manager, may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to enjoin any 
planned, anticipated or threatened violation of this chapter.  

(e) Seizure & disposal of consumer fireworks. The town may seize consumer fireworks that the 
town has probable cause to believe are used or sold in violation of this chapter and shall 
forfeit seized consumer fireworks to the state for disposal.  

(Ord. of 12-19-11) 

55



 
 

 
ITEM 112 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: Appointments Committee 

SUBJECT: Report for November 2nd Appointments 

DATE: 10/28/2015 

 
The Appointments Committee interviewed several people and are making the following 
nominations: 
 
Cable TV Committee 
 Bernard Breitbart (reappointment) for a term to expire on 09/06/2018 
 Robert Broderick (reappointment) for a term to expire on 09/06/2018 
 
Downtown & Outer Pleasant Street Master Plan Implementation Committee 
 Kathleen Stevens (new appointment) as Pleasant Street Resident member for a term to expire 

on 12/01/2017 
 Debra King (reappointment) as the Brunswick Downtown Association member for term to 

expire on 12/01/2017) 
 Toby Tarpinian (reappointment in different category) as the Citizen at Large member for a 

term to expire on 12/01/2017 
 
Recreation Commission 
 Sarah Seames(new appointment) for a term to expire on 07/01/2018 
 
Village Review Board 
 Constance Lundquist (reappointments) for a term to expire on 10/20/2018 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
 Steven Garrett (reappointment) as the Full member for a term to expire on 11/20/2018  



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Wednesday, September 30, 2015 8:17 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Bernie Breitbart  

Street Address  

  38 Cumberland Street  

Home phone #  

  729-0787  

Cell/mobile phone  

  332-3482  

email address  

  bernie@harbart.net  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Cable TV Committee  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 Yes 

What Board/Commission/Committee, the number of years of service, and the relationship to this applicant

  Davis Fund Committee, 3, Wife  

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  retired  

List any civic organizations to which you belong

  People Plus  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  I worked in the film industry  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  
Cable Committee 3 yrs 
 
Police Station Committee  

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  no  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?



2

  I am on the Cable Committee.  

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  To get better cable for town  

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  no  

6. Do you have anything you would like to add?  

  no  
 

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Monday, September 28, 2015 8:24 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Robert E. Broderick  

Street Address  

  #40 Willow Grove Road, Brunswick  

Home phone #  

  207.725.5892  

email address  

  robsalb@myfairpoint.net  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Cable Committee  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 Yes 

What Board/Commission/Committee, the number of years of service, and the relationship to this applicant

  Presently on Cable Committee for one year.  

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  Ret. Civll Engineer Project Manager  

List any civic organizations to which you belong

  
People Plus 
MidCoast Hospital Volunteers 
Friends of Bowdoin  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  
Management of new construction projects for education and commercial buildings provided me with experience with all 
communication service. This required determining owners scope of work, preparing specifications, bid process, and 
recommendations.  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  Presently on Cable Commission for one year.  

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  No The past year has been educational of the scope and duties of the commission in meeting the needs of the Brunswick 
community.  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  30 years in project design and application of meeting the requires of owners and developer. Formal education includes courses in 



2

project management and contract writing.  
3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  I can bring to the Commission and Brunswick a very good technical background ( BS Civil Eng. Northeastern / graduate work in 
Business Management). Employment based experience of preparing scope of work proposals and contracts.,  

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes, presently attending meetings.  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  No  

6. Do you have anything you would like to add?  

  Pleased to be useful in Town of Brunswick civic service.
 

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Tuesday, October 13, 2015 2:16 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Steven G. Garrett  

Street Address  

  158 Highland Road  

Home phone #  

  2079568729  

Cell/mobile phone  

  207-607-9713  

email address  

  rsixfive@gmail.com  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  ZBA  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 Yes 

What Board/Commission/Committee, the number of years of service, and the relationship to this applicant

  ZBA  

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  Retired  

List any civic organizations to which you belong

  
Pejepscot Historical Society; docent at JL Chamberlain House 
JL Chamberlain Civil War Roundtable 
CWRT Book Club  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  I have been a member of the ZBA since 1988. Additionally, I have been the board secretary for the past 10+ years.

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  ZBA  

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  N/A  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?



2

  See above & degree in engineering (Civil) and member of BIW engineering for 36 years.

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  I can continue using my experience to support my town.

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes. Not much the last few years.  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  NO  

6. Do you have anything you would like to add?  

  N/A  
 

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Monday, September 21, 2015 3:59 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Debora King  

Street Address  

  10 Cushnoc Lane  

Home phone #  

  2077294439  

Cell/mobile phone  

  2077294439  

email address  

  director@brunswickdowntown.org  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Downtown Master Plan Implementation  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 No 

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  2077294439  

List any civic organizations to which you belong

  Brunswick Explorer Advisory Board, Access Health Advisory Board

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  Several years working in the non-profit field including economic development and leadership roles.  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  Yes. Downtown Master Plan Implementation Committee for the last 2 years.

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  No.  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  Economic Development Specialist for 10 years. Degree in Human Geography - minor in Sociology and Economics. Completed 



2

1st year of MBA program.  

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  To give back to the community in which I live.  

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  No  

6. Do you have anything you would like to add? 

  n/a  
 

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Tuesday, September 29, 2015 2:29 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Connie Lundquist  

Street Address  

  11 Longfellow Ave  

Home phone #  

  725-2837  

Cell/mobile phone  

  607-2569  

email address  

  connielundquist98@gmail.com  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Village Review Board  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 Yes 

What Board/Commission/Committee, the number of years of service, and the relationship to this applicant

  Village Review Board, 3(?)yrs, Self  

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  Retired Lawyer; Artist  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  

Prior service on Village Review Board. 
 
Former member of Chamber of Commerce 
 
Familiarity with the Law  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  Seee above  

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  No  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  See above  



2

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  I care very much about the appearance & character of the Town of Brunswick, and about historical preservation.

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  No  

6. Do you have anything you would like to add?  

  No  
 

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Thursday, October 15, 2015 9:04 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Sarah A. Seames  

Street Address  

  10 Algonquin Lane  

Home phone #  

  207-837-0710  

Cell/mobile phone  

  207-837-0710  

email address  

  sarah.seames@gmail.com  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Recreation Commission  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 No 

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  Director, McKeen Center for the Common Good, Bowdoin College

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  
I have served on several committees and boards that serve the local community, including the Brunswick Teen Center (Board of 
Directors), Habitat for Humanity (Family Selection Committee), and the United Way (Volunteer Engagement Advisory 
Committee).  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  I served on the Brunswick Teen Center Board of Directors from 2007-2010, which is affiliated with the town.  

1. Do you have any questions about what the Board/Commission/Committee does or on its charge?  

  No  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  
As Director of the McKeen Center at Bowdoin College, I work closely with the Town of Brunswick and numerous community 
agencies. I've lived and worked in Brunswick for 10 years and have a masters degree in Public Policy and Management from 
USM.  

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  The Parks and Rec Dept. provides essential services to all Brunswick community members and I would like to support the work of 
the great staff there. Attached you will find a cover letter which explains my interests and qualifications further.  



2

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  

  Yes  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  No  

If you wish to upload your resume, you can do so here

  
 Sarah-Seames-Cover-Letter-and-Resume.pdf 

 

 



 
October 15, 2015 
 
Dear Members of the Appointments Committee, 
 
I am pleased to submit my application for the vacant position on the Brunswick Recreation Commission.  I hold the 
Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department in high regard and would like to bring my personal commitment to the 
town of Brunswick and my professional skills and experience to benefit this important part of our community. 
 
I have lived in Brunswick since 2005 when I moved here to begin working at Bowdoin College.  In my work since 
then, and in my current role as director of the Joseph McKeen Center for the Common Good at Bowdoin, I strive to 
build strong connections between students, faculty, and staff of the College, and the local community.  The McKeen 
Center facilitates volunteer opportunities, supports community-engaged courses, and administers summer 
fellowships with local non-profit organizations and municipal departments.  Over the past ten years, I have come to 
know and love this community, and have been fortunate to work with many public and private organizations to 
make Brunswick stronger. 
 
In addition to my professional responsibilities, I have become an active resident in our community.  The service I am 
most proud of was my time on the board of directors for the Brunswick Teen Center, which I served on for three 
years, and as co-chair of the board in my last year of service.  During my time as co-chair, I assisted with the 
selection of a new Teen Center coordinator, helped prepare the Center for a move to a new facility, and oversaw a 
merger between BTC and People Plus.  In this role I was also able to learn more about the work of the Parks and 
Recreation Department and the Town of Brunswick because of their connections to the Center.  I have been lucky to 
work in recent years with Habitat for Humanity’s Family Selection Committee and the United Way’s Volunteer 
Engagement Advisory Committee, and that work has given me additional insight into of our community. 
 
Finally, as a parent of a young child, I recognize the importance of the Recreation Commission in ensuring that 
Brunswick is a vital and healthy community, especially for our youngest citizens.  The services the Parks and 
Recreation Department provides and the availability of public recreation options are at the heart of what makes our 
community a great one and I hope to bring my personal and professional skills and experiences to the Recreation 
Commission to support this work.  I welcome the opportunity to speak with you further about my interest in this 
opportunity.  I can be reached at 837-0710 or sarah.seames@gmail.com.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Sarah Seames 
 
  

mailto:sarah.seames@gmail.com


Sarah A. Seames  
10 Algonquin Lane, Brunswick, ME 04011   (207) 837-0710  sarah.seames@gmail.com 

  
  

Experience 
 Director           7/12 – Present  

Joseph McKeen Center for the Common Good, Bowdoin College, Brunswick, ME 

 Lead advanced community engagement center at elite liberal arts college.  Provide vision, leadership, and 
strategic planning for programming and initiatives that connect students, faculty, and staff with communities 
through service, leadership development, community-engaged teaching and research, and public events. 

 Oversee budget with funding streams that include annual donors, endowment, operating funds, student fees, 
and federal work-study budget. 

 Initiated campus-wide dialogue series designed to increase the level of discourse about critical public issues. 

 Build network of alumni who have worked with or are interested in the work of the McKeen Center, 
including creation of alumni newsletter and new alumni profile section of website. 

 Work with Academic Affairs to support faculty interested in community-engaged teaching and research.  

 Oversee Global Citizens Grant which provides funding and educational resources to students for 
independently designed service projects around the world. 

 Advise and guide students in their interests related to community engagement, leadership, and public issues. 

 Coordinate public relations for and represent the Center in the community.  

 Collaborate with departments across campus on programming and initiatives, including the Offices of the 
Deans of Student and Academic Affairs, Student Aid, Admissions, Career Planning, and Development. 

 Supervise four staff members and 50 student employees. 
 

Senior Associate Director        8/05 – 7/12 

Joseph McKeen Center for the Common Good, Bowdoin College, Brunswick, ME 

 Oversaw all student community service initiatives.  Increased student volunteer hours by over 100% in seven 
years, from 23,000 to 50,000 hours annually. 

 Managed budgets for programming involving 1,300 students annually. 

 Supervised full-time Assistant Director for Student Community Service, a staff position responsible for all 
youth and school-based initiatives, including Federal Work Study funded tutoring, mentoring, and Aspirations 
in Maine programming.  

 Led an eight-trip alternative spring break program for 100 students annually. Taught semester-long seminar 
for trip leaders, coordinated participant selection, developed strategic educational goals, managed emergency 
preparedness, and led incident response as youth traveled throughout the U.S. and internationally. 

 Managed the Community Matters in Maine Summer Fellowship Program including coordination of 
applications from organizations and students, placements, and progress of students over the summer.  

 Organized four-day orientation program that immersed incoming first-year college students in the local 
community through service.  

 Directed Common Good Day, an annual day of service attracting over 600 students, faculty, staff, and 
alumni, and providing 1,800 hours of service to 65 community organizations. 

 Advised and trained student leaders of 28 campus service organizations, representing over 600 student 
volunteers annually. Facilitated leadership retreat and secured funding for service activities.  

 Created Service News, a weekly email newsletter communicating service opportunities to over 1,000 members 
of the Bowdoin and Brunswick communities.  

 Earned promotions and increased responsibilities. Served as Senior Associate Director 7/11-7/12; Interim 
Director 6/10-7/11; Assistant Director for Service and Leadership 7/08-6/10; Coordinator of Community 
Service Programs 8/05- 6/08. 

 

 
 
 



Sarah A. Seames  
Page 2 

 
Coordinator of Community Service       8/04 – 8/05 

 Lesley University, Cambridge, MA 

 Developed and expanded community service programs, projects, and partnerships. Provided support for the 
Area 4 Cambridge/Lesley University Partnership. 

 Coordinated Federal Work-Study community service placements and America Reads tutoring program. 
Ensured compliance with federal regulations regarding Federal Work Study funding. 

 Initiated and organized a variety of co-curricular community service programs, including Alternative Spring 
Break, Orientation Day of Service, Lesley Votes, Community Wednesdays, and Hunger Awareness Week.   

 

Youth Engaged in Service Ambassador      8/02 – 8/04 
 Maine Campus Compact / Points of Light Foundation, Lewiston, ME and Washington, D.C. 

 Selected to participate in competitive, nationally renowned professional development program through the 
Points of Light Foundation, focusing on young service professionals. 

 Created and implemented student programming for Maine Campus Compact, recruited and advised students, 
and provided training and funding opportunities for students, faculty, and staff of 19 Maine colleges.  

 Managed and reported on two-year, three state collaboration on “Raise Your Voice” student civic 
engagement initiative grant which included the Civic Fellows program, Student Leadership Team, A Month 
of Action Sub-Grants, and web site management.   

 Coordinated Making Waves Student Conference on Service, Leadership, and Activism and Students on the 
Maine Stage, a civic engagement showcase and celebration. 

 Wrote Back to Basics: A Guide for College Students to Understand and Participate in the Political System and A Guide to 
Leading Reflection in Alternative Break Programming. 

 

Leadership Programs Assistant       7/01 – 8/02 
 Campus Compact for New Hampshire, Concord, NH 

 Oversaw student service leadership initiatives including the Student Leadership Advisory Council, Service 
Leadership Symposium, and SERVE-NH, a part-time AmeriCorps program. 

 Compiled and published Campus Compact for New Hampshire’s Voices of Service: A Guide to Student Service in 
New Hampshire, profiling community service on 19 college campuses in New Hampshire and offering 
recruitment tools, service statistics and best practices. 

 

Education 
Muskie School of Public Service, University of Southern Maine, Portland, ME 

Master’s Degree in Public Policy and Management, summa cum laude, 2010 
Capstone research: College Student Financial Need and Extracurricular Participation 
Certificate in Applied Research and Evaluation Methods, 2010 

 

New England College, Henniker, NH    
B.A. in Sociology and Business Administration, summa cum laude, 2001 

 

Community Engagement
 Habitat for Humanity/7 Rivers Maine – Family Selection Committee, 2010-2014 

 United Way of Mid Coast Maine – Volunteer Engagement Advisory Committee, 2011-2013  

 Brunswick Teen Center Board of Directors – Chair 2009 – 2010, Member 2007 – 2009 
 

Trainings, Certifications and Conferences 
 Completed “A Rising Tide” political campaign training. 

 Presented at the National Conference on Community Volunteering and National Service, the COOL Idealist 
National Conference, and the National Student Campaign Against Hunger and Homelessness Conference.  

 



1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Sunday, October 04, 2015 4:23 PM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Kathleen Stevens  

Street Address  

  177 Pleasant St.  

Home phone #  

  2076072506  

Cell/mobile phone  

  2076072506  

email address  

  kates_cateringme@yahoo.com  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  Downtown & Outer Pleasant Street Master  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 No 

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  LLBean 865-4761  

List any civic organizations to which you belong

  Currently working as a Loaned Executive for United Way of Greater Portland through Oct. 30, 2015. Current member of the 
LLBean Red Cross Disaster Shelter Team.  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  Resident of Upper Pleasant Street  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  none  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  Long time employee of LLBean, extensive training in Microsoft Suite, pu of trainingblic speaking,facilitating meetings, developing 
and conducting a variety  

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  Now that my children are older, I'd like to be more active in town activities and broaden my experiences through those activities

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  



2

yes

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?

no

If you wish to upload your resume, you can do so here

 Kathleen-A.-Stevens-Resume.pdf



KATHLEEN A. STEVENS 

177 Pleasant Street 

Brunswick, ME  04011 

Cell: (207) 607-3295 

kates_cateringme@yahoo.com 

COMPETENCIES 

 Results-Oriented

 Strong Customer Focus

 Time, Space and Task Management

 Proficient in Microsoft Office Suite

 Strong Written and Verbal Communication

 Sound Judgement

WORK EXPERIENCE 

Machine Operator L.L. Bean, Freeport, Maine 1994 to Present 

 Assorted jobs in Distribution including: Picking, Packing, Monogramming, Problem Resolution, Merchandise Prep,

Team Leader, Job Coach, Trainer.

 Exceeded quality and production expectations while performing following safe guidelines.

 Previously involved in the following safety teams: Lead SER in Operations, specializing in office assessments, Job

Hazard Analysis, Stretch Break Leader, attended OSHA conference 2013, Safety Audit. Team. Current member of the

Red Cross Disaster Team. United Way Division Manager, 2013 to 2014

 Facilitated team meetings, constructed and conducted trainings for peers, spoke about numerous programs to multiple

levels of leadership and peers in team meetings.  Developed PowerPoint presentations and delivered in multiple

meetings.  Made United Way DM program sustainable by developing a structured process for future teams to follow.

 Humantech Certified in Ergonomics (2008 – Present), Regular participation in Humantech Webinars to maintain

certification.

Loaned Executive, United Way of Greater Portland, Portland, Maine August 2015 to Present 

 Manage multiple accounts in a cross-section of diverse businesses to reach Campaign goals.

 Developed and maintained community relationships while helping to fulfill charitable goals for United Way of Greater

Portland using a variety of communication options including e-mail, phone contact, in-person meetings and rallies.

 Maintain company records in database and help reach overall goal.

Owner, Kate’s Catering, Brunswick, Maine 1988 to 2010 

 Responsible for menu development, food preparations, event planning and all guest relations.

 Managed bookkeeping and finances.

Server, Richard’s Restaurant, Brunswick, Maine 1993 to 1995 

 Provided excellent customer service to guests.

 Responsible for managing cash and reporting nightly sales.

 Assisted owner with banquet menu planning, catering jobs, computer set-up, menu reformatting and advertising.

Lead Cook, Imperial Palace Hotel and Casino, Las Vegas, Nevada 1989 to 1992 

 Supervision of employees, food control and training.

 Responsible for purchasing and cost control.

Johnson and Wales University, Providence, Rhode Island 1987 to 1989 

 Teaching Assistant on a full scholarship.

 Trained Practicum students in areas of: Fine Dining and Tableside Cooking, Fine Dining Kitchen, Banquet Dining,

Banquet Kitchen, Commercial Kitchen and Cafeteria Kitchen.

 Responsible for teaching required lesson plans while supplying real time restaurant experiences in school run facilities.

EDUCATION 

Johnson & Wales University, Providence, Rhode Island 1985 to 1989 

B.S. in Food Service Management 

A.O.S in Culinary Arts 

mailto:kates_cateringme@yahoo.com


1

Fran Smith

From: smithfm@brunswickme.org
Sent: Wednesday, September 23, 2015 9:38 AM
To: Fran Smith
Subject: New submission from Board Application

Full Name  

  Toby Tarpinian  

Street Address  

  66 Carriage Lane  

Home phone #  

  7073322660  

Cell/mobile phone  

  7073322660  

email address  

  tjtloretto@aol.com  

Commitee/Board you are applying for  

  MPIC  

Type of Memberships  

  Full membership  

Do you or any relative currently serve on any Town Board/Committee/Commission

  
 No 

Your occupation (include employer and work phone #)

  Owner Morning Glory Natural Foods,  

Note any prior experience knowledge, or abilities that you have which would contribute to the activities of the 
board/committee/commission  

  Downtown Business Owner  

Have you previously served on a Town board/commission/committee? If so, please list the board/commission/committee 
and years of service:  

  
3 years MPIC 
2 years BDA Board of Directors  
2 years Theatre Project Board of Directors  

2. Do you have any practical experience or formal education that would be relevant to the Board/Commission/Committee?

  BS Business Administration/Marketing  

3. Why would you like to be on the Board/Commission/Committee?

  To help improve downtown Brunswick and to represent other Brunswick business owners.

4. Are you aware of the time involved and would you be able to attend most of the meetings?  



2

  yes  

5. Do you have any conflict of interest that might involve either a direct financial gain or other gain?  

  no  
 

 


	ca a Oct 19, 2015 min
	ca a yes
	mr a to c NO
	108 yes
	108 ga_20151014125453
	109 yes
	109 Memo Budget Amendment 100115
	110 yes
	110 Memo Mooring Fees 102915
	111 yes
	111 Memo Municipal Code Revenues 102815
	112 yes
	112 app com full
	App Com memo for 11-2-15
	2015 Breitbart b - cable tv
	2015 Broderick R cable
	2015 Garrett steve ZBA
	2015 King D - Downtown
	2015 Lundquist C - VRB
	2015 seames s - rec commission
	2015 Stevens K - MPIC
	2015 Tarpinian t downtown




